DONCASTER MBC
THE GLASS PARK INVESTIGATION

Report from Stewart Dobson

FOREWORD

Further to the interim report that I presented to the meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee on 7 June 2006, I have now completed my investigation and this is my final report.

I was aware from the outset of my investigation that ‘’the Glass Park issue’’ had become something of a political battleground.  This awareness was only heightened when, during the course of my investigation, I was faced with widely differing views about what had or had not happened in relation to the various Glass Park projects and, even more particularly, about how the value of those projects and the conduct of those involved in promoting them should be judged.

Aside from telling me that my final report, whatever it might say, was highly unlikely to please everybody, this also told me--

· that my approach towards establishing the facts of the matter would need to be as rigorous and thorough as I could make it;   and

· that any views or opinions that I might express in the final report would need to be rooted in my own judgement, based on the facts that I had been able to establish.

I believe that this final report reflects the approach outlined above.  I very much hope that it will be helpful to the Council.  If nothing else, I hope that the report will now enable judgements to be made on the basis of the facts, rather than on the basis of anecdote or rumour.

I must record my gratitude, to everyone I met during my investigation, for their courtesy and co-operation.  I was very conscious that, for many of the people I met, this was certainly not the first occasion when they had been closely questioned about the Glass Park projects.  Nevertheless, they were unfailingly polite and helpful.  Finally, I am particularly indebted to Graham Cawthorne (Investigation & Standards Consultant of the Council’s Corporate Assurance Team), whose support, assistance and company throughout my investigation have proved invaluable.
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I must apologise for the fact that there is no Executive Summary within this report.  My primary task has been to provide a full description of DMBC’s relationship with the Glass Park, as regards a wide range of projects.  After giving the matter careful thought, I have come to the conclusion that this description, which occupies over 25 pages of this report, is incapable of satisfactory summary. 

In an attempt to compensate for the absence of an Executive Summary, I have within the report highlighted in bold the paragraphs that contain my views and comments on particular issues.  I have also drawn together various thoughts in the Concluding comments section on Page 49. 

1.  MY 4 MAIN TASKS

1.1
The full version of my terms of reference, as given to me by Susan Law (the Council’s Managing Director) at the outset of my investigation in March 2006, is set out in ANNEX A to this report.

1.2.
The background to my investigation was that, during the course of 2005, the Audit Commission had issued a report, entitled ‘’Review of Glass Park Projects—Corporate Issues’’, which contained a number of critical findings about the way in which the Council had dealt with various funding applications from organisations associated with the Glass Park, in the Kirk Sandall area of Doncaster.  The report went on to make a total of 14 recommendations as to changes in the Council’s procedures and practices for assessing, managing and monitoring funding applications.  Finally, the report contained an Action Plan (already agreed with Council officers) for putting these recommendations into effect.

1.3.
Although it was made clear in the Audit Commission’s report that their findings were based on their examination of 4 particular Glass Park projects, the report itself did not contain any specific details of these projects.

1.4.
The present elected mayor of Doncaster (Mayor Martin Winter) was, at least until 2001, very closely associated with the Glass Park.

1.5.
Another feature of the background was that, although the Audit Commission’s report was dated June 2005, it was not apparently until late November 2005 that it was brought to the attention of Members—and then only by a Member who produced a copy of the report at a meeting of an Overview & Scrutiny Panel.  There were therefore suspicions that, since June 2005, circulation of the report within the Council might have been deliberately suppressed.

1.6.
The emergence of the report in late November prompted various Members to requisition the calling of a special Council meeting.  This special meeting took place on Friday, 16 December 2005.  At the end of this meeting, a resolution was passed to the effect that the Managing Director should report to the Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee on the answers to a total of 49 questions, arising from the Audit Commission’s report, that had been raised by Members during the course of the meeting.

1.7.
The Managing Director subsequently reported to the Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee, on 13 February 2006, setting out the steps that she was taking to commission an independent person to investigate certain of the concerns raised by members.  This investigation would include the task of establishing the answers to the 49 questions raised at the special Council meeting.  The Committee expressed their support for the steps that the Managing Director was taking. 

1.8.
Against the above background, my 4 main tasks (in the order in which they are dealt with in this report) have been as follows—

· to provide a full factual account of (a) how & when the final version of the Audit Commission’s report (dated June 2005) was received by the Council and (b) what actions were taken in response to it.  I have provided such an account in the section of this report headed ‘The receipt of the Audit Commission’s report’—this appears on Pages 7 & 8;

· to provide a full description of the Council’s relationship with the Glass Park as regards the 4 specific projects that were examined by the Audit Commission.  I have dealt with this task in two ways.  First, by including a section headed ‘Glass Park—Origins and Structure’ that occupies Pages 9 to 14 and second, by providing a detailed description of ‘The specific Glass Park projects’ in the longest section of the report that occupies Pages 15 to 41;

· to review the adequacy of the management actions that have been taken in response to the Audit Commission’s recommendations and, if appropriate, to put forward recommendations for further actions.  This is dealt with in the section of this report headed ‘The Audit Commission’s recommendations’ that occupies Pages 47 & 48;   and

· to provide answers to each of the 49 questions that were put forward by Members at the special Council meeting held in December 2005.  ANNEX B to this report contains a full list of these 49 questions, together with my answers.  Wherever possible, the full answer to each question appears in ANNEX B.  However, in a few cases where the answer involves a great deal of detailed information, ANNEX B refers the reader to the relevant section of this main report.

2.  METHODOLOGY

2.1.
My investigation started in mid March 2006 with briefing meetings with Susan Law (Managing Director) and Paul Evans (Director of Legal Services).  I was provided at these meetings with copies of all the material, taken from Council files, that had previously been provided to the Audit Commission for the purposes of their own investigation.

2.2.
A list of all the meetings that have formed part of my investigation appears in ANNEX C to this report.

2.3.
In order to ‘’clear my lines’’ with both the Police and the Audit Commission, my first substantive meetings were with (a) senior officers of the South Yorkshire Police and (b) officers from the Doncaster office of the Audit Commission.

2.4.
The Police made it clear that they were content for me to proceed with my investigation provided that, pending the outcome of their own investigation into matters relating to one of the Glass Park projects, I did not seek to approach certain individuals who they had interviewed.  This ‘’restriction’’ on my investigation remained in force until the end of June 2006, when it was announced that the Police investigation was completed and that no criminal proceedings were to be instituted.  Subsequently, during August 2006, I was given sight of the transcripts of certain interviews that the Police had carried out as part of their investigation.  I am very grateful to the Police for their co-operation in this regard.

2.5.
As regards my meeting with officers of the Audit Commission, they provided me with an account of the origins and history of their investigation (which they had conducted over the period from 2003 to 2005) and also of the way in which they had sent the final version of their report to the Council in June 2005.  As part of this, they confirmed that the reference at the beginning of their report to ‘’concerns raised by electors in respect of grant funding of Glass Park projects’’ was primarily a reference to the concerns raised by Mrs Joan Moffat.  Although the Audit Commission felt unable to share with me the details of the material they had received from Mrs Moffat, I subsequently made a direct approach to her.  This resulted in two meetings with her, in July & August 2006.  At these meetings, Mrs Moffat was good enough to provide me with a total of 11 files containing all the material that she had collected over several years and that she had previously made available to both the Audit Commission and the Police.  I am very grateful to Mrs Moffat for her co-operation in this regard.

2.6.
I was accompanied at all the investigation meetings by Graham Cawthorne of the Council’s Corporate Assurance Team.  The process that we normally followed in relation to the investigation meetings was—

· to write to each individual in advance of the meeting, enclosing a copy of my terms of reference and identifying the particular matters that we wished to explore;

· to provide each individual with a qualified assurance of confidentiality—i.e. an assurance that, except where I felt that it was both necessary and appropriate (e.g. in the interests of the integrity and credibility of my report), it was not my intention within the report to attribute particular pieces of information to particular individuals;   and 

· after each meeting, to produce a note of the meeting (in the form of either a full transcript, if the meeting had been tape recorded, or a summary, based on handwritten notes taken by me and Graham Cawthorne) and then to send the note to the individual concerned in draft form, inviting any comment or correction.

2.7.
I believe that, during the course of my investigation, I have met with all the Council officers, past & present, who were directly involved in dealing with the Glass Park projects and also with the key individuals, on the Glass Park side, who were involved in promoting those projects.  Aside from providing me with first hand accounts of their involvement, these meetings also provided an opportunity for individuals to provide me with additional written material.  This has, I believe, served to fill in any significant ‘’gaps’’ in the material that was originally provided to me.

2.8.
All in all, I believe that, after allowing for the fact that most of the projects date back several years, I have acquired as full an understanding of the various Glass Park projects as is reasonably practicable.

2.9.
Finally, I have also visited the Glass Park site, on two occasions, in order to familiarise myself with the relevant locations.

3.  THE RECEIPT OF THE AUDIT COMMISSION’S REPORT

3.1.
My task here was, in essence, to find out what had happened to the final version of the Commission’s report between June 2005 (the date on the front of the report) and late November 2005 when a copy of the report emerged at a meeting of the Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel.  This then resulted, a few days later, in copies of the report being circulated to all Members of the Council.  This in turn resulted in a special meeting of the Council taking place on 16 December 2005.  I was aware that there were suspicions that, from June 2005 onwards, circulation of the report within the Council might have been deliberately suppressed.

3.2.
The following account of what actually happened is based primarily on information I have obtained from the Audit Commission, Susan Law, Tal Michael, Councillor Pinkney and Mayor Martin Winter.  Certain aspects have also been corroborated by reference to correspondence and other papers.

3.3.
First of all, Phil Parkin of the Audit Commission was able to provide me with a copy of the letter, enclosing 2 copies of the report, that he had sent to Susan Law on 16 June 2005.  These were the only copies of the report sent to the Council at that time.  This was somewhat unusual--with a report of this type, one would normally expect further copies to have been sent direct to the relevant Council Departments.  However, as he made clear in his covering letter, Phil Parkin did not do this because he was aware, following a re-structuring, that the particular Council officers who had been involved with the investigation had now taken on different responsibilities.

3.4.
Susan Law told me that she could recall receiving Phil Parkin’s letter and reading the report.  She went on to say that, at the time, she did not see the report as particularly significant.  She also assumed—mistakenly, given what was said in the covering letter—that copies would have been sent to the relevant Departments and that they would be taking the necessary action.  After a few days, she therefore simply marked out the letter and the copies of the report for filing.  This has been corroborated by checking the relevant filing system.  The letter and reports have been located within that system—they were filed on 22 June 2005.  Susan Law also confirmed to me that she did not at the time discuss the report with any officer colleagues or with the Mayor.

3.5.
As to how a copy of the report ‘’emerged’’ at the Overview & Scrutiny Panel meeting in late November 2005, Councillor Pinkney told me she was first given a copy of the report by Mrs Moffat and that she then provided Councillor Tony Brown with the copy that he produced at the Panel meeting.  I have not been able to establish precisely how and when Mrs Moffat obtained her copy of the report, but given that (a) by this time, the report was a final version that had already been sent to the Council and (b) Mrs Moffat was the person whose concerns had prompted the Commission’s investigation, I do not find it at all surprising that she was in possession of a copy.  

3.6.
What happened shortly after the Overview & Scrutiny Panel meeting on 24 November 2005 was that Tal Michael, who at that stage was unaware that the final version of the report had ever been received by the Council, e-mailed Phil Parkin in order to check whether it was true that the final version had now been issued.  Although the Panel had already decided that copies of the report should be sent to all Members of the Council, I believe that it was sensible for Tal Michael to have made this type of check.  In any event, Phil Parkin confirmed to Tal Michael that the report had indeed been issued (back in June) and he then provided him with an electronic version of the report to Tal.  This was the version that was then e-mailed out to all Members on 2 December 2005.

3.7.
I believe that the above account of events is factually correct.  It follows that, whilst I can readily understand how and why the suspicion arose, I do not believe that there was in fact any deliberate attempt to suppress circulation of the report within the Council.

3.8.
Finally, for completeness, I should make the point that, whilst it is a fact that the Council generally did not become aware of the final version of the report until late November 2005 (more than 5 months after it had been sent to the Council), it is equally a fact that various people within the Council, and indeed the Council as a whole, had been informed that a report of this type was, as it were, ‘’on its way’’.  This was because—

· at one of the Commission’s regular meetings with the Mayor and the Managing Director, the Commission’s officers had made reference to their ongoing investigation and to their emerging findings.  So far as this is concerned, Mayor Winter has confirmed to me that he can certainly recall this happening.  However, he has also confirmed that he did not become aware of, or see a copy of, the final version of the Commission’s report until after its emergence at the November 2005 O & S Panel meeting;   

· in November 2004, the Commission had sent a draft version of their report, for comment, to both Susan Law and Keith Miller (the then Head of Strategic Programmes).  This had resulted in various meetings & correspondence between the Commission and officers from the Strategic Programmes Unit;   and 

· so far as information to the whole Council is concerned, the Audit Commission’s Annual Audit & Inspection Letter for 2003/04 had contained a half page section referring to their investigation and identifying their main findings.  The whole of this Letter was then included in the papers that were considered by the full Council at its meeting on 21 February 2005.  However, to be fair, it must be pointed out that the Audit Commission’s Letter referred only to the ‘’grant funding of certain community projects’’.  It did not actually mention that the community projects in question were the Glass Park projects. 

4.  THE GLASS PARK—ORIGINS AND STRUCTURE

4.1.
Before embarking upon a detailed description of the specific Glass Park projects, I thought that it would be helpful to include at this point some description of how the Glass Park originated and how it is structured.

4.2.
The description that follows is based primarily on information, including supporting documentation, provided to me at my meetings with Mayor Winter, Liz Jeffress, Carolyne Hunter and Martin Hilton.  However, a good deal of this information has also been corroborated and/or supplemented by (a) my discussions with Inspector Colin Lomas of the South Yorkshire Police and with John Housham of the Environment Agency, who both served as Trustees of the Glass Park Millennium Green Trust for a number of years from 1998 onwards, (b) my discussion with George Boot, the Manufacturing Manager for the Old Kirk Sandall Works of Pilkington UK Limited, who has served as a Trustee of the Glass Park Millennium Green Trust from 1999 until the present day, (c) my discussions with various officers from the Council’s Development Directorate and finally (d) information from the official Registers of Companies and Charities and from the minutes of various bodies.

4.3.
The origins of the Glass Park date back to the end of the 1980s which is when a group of Kirk Sandall residents banded together, in an informal grouping, to oppose a planning application to construct a toxic waste treatment plant on part of the land owned by Pilkington.  [Note: Pilkington had been the owners of the whole of the former Sandall Grove Estate since the 1920s.]  Following a public inquiry into the planning application during the Summer of 1990, the application was eventually refused.  The final decision was announced in November 1991.

4.4.
Some of the Pilkington land in question was apparently already used by local residents (unofficially) for walking their dogs and other recreational activities.  Following their success in resisting the planning application, certain of the residents (including Martin Winter, Liz Jeffress & Martin Hilton) came up with the idea of trying to harness the considerable community energy that had been generated by the campaign against the planning application towards trying to achieve something positive—i.e. trying to ensure that the land concerned remained open and trying to secure permanent public access to it. 

4.5.
This resulted, over time, in the formation of the Kirk Sandall Community Wildlife Group and in protracted discussions with Pilkington and with Doncaster Council (in its capacity as the local planning authority) about the future of the land and about the possibility of bringing parts of it into some form of public or community ownership.  In the meantime, two of the prime movers (Martin Winter & Liz Jeffress) had been elected as members of the local Parish Council—the Barnby Dun with Kirk Sandall Parish Council. 

4.6.
The discussions about the future of the land took place in the context, during the early 1990s, of the preparation of Doncaster’s new Unitary Development Plan (UDP).  Under the then existing Development Plan, large parts of the land owned by Pilkington, including the land that was of particular interest and concern to the Community Wildlife Group, were allocated for further industrial use.  However, following lengthy discussions between Pilkington and the Council (and also involving the Community Wildlife Group), it was eventually agreed that certain of these existing industrial allocations would be ‘’released’’ and that at the same time, some 5 acres of the land owned by Pilkington (near to the recreation ground) would be newly allocated for housing use.  These revised land use proposals were included within the Draft UDP that was placed on deposit in 1994 and they were confirmed within the final version of the UDP that was adopted in 1998.  In the light of this new planning situation, Pilkington were then of course much more likely to be sympathetic to the possibility of parts of the land being transferred into public or community ownership.

4.7.
The next major development was the production, in 1996, of the Kirk Sandall Country Park Study.  This Study was prepared by Landlife, a Liverpool based consultancy, who had been commissioned by the Parish Council, with support from the Community Wildlife Group and the Rural Development Commission.  This Study, which was based on a great deal of consultation with the local community (including a well attended Planning for Real exercise in November 1995), put forward—

· a set of land use recommendations, for the Parish Council and the Community Wildlife Group to pursue, relating to 4 different parts of the land owned by Pilkington—i.e. (i) the woodland area, (ii) the area including the former glass tip, (iii) the recreation ground (the Pilkington sports ground) and (iv) the area including and around Grove Farm;  

· various suggestions as to funding opportunities that might be pursued in order to turn the land use recommendations into reality;   and

· the suggestion that, in order to give the whole project a distinct and recognisable identity, the name of ‘’The Glass Park’’ should be adopted and used from now on.  

4.8.
At the same time, the Study made it clear that there was at this stage no certainty about (a) whether it would be possible to secure funding for the various proposals and (b) whether Pilkington would co-operate, in terms of being prepared to release the various areas of land.  Nevertheless, the Study provided the Parish Council and the Community Wildlife Group with a useful ‘’masterplan’’ for their future efforts.

4.9.
Another suggestion made in the Country Park Study was to do with the potential benefits of creating a new charitable body in order to take certain of the proposals forward.  The Community Wildlife Group, although it had always had a constitution, had never been incorporated as a separate legal entity.  It could not therefore acquire or own land.  

4.10.
In line with the above suggestion, a completely new body, known as the Glass Park Millennium Green Trust (the GPMGT), was eventually established.  This body was formally incorporated as a charitable trust by way of a Declaration of Trust dated 1 April 1998 and signed by the 13 original Trustees.  It was then registered with the Charity Commission (under No. 1070308) on 30 June of that same year.  The principal charitable object of the GPMGT was ‘’the provision and maintenance of an open space to be known as a Millennium Green for the general benefit of the community’’.  The original Chairman of the Trust was Councillor Pat Mullany, but (towards the end of 1998) he resigned and was replaced by Martin Hilton.  Martin Hilton remains the Chairman to this day.  Martin Winter was the first Secretary to the Trust, but following his withdrawal from active involvement in the Glass Park project in 2001 (see later), he was replaced by Wendy Slater, another local resident.  She was subsequently replaced by Liz Jeffress, who is the current Secretary.

4.11.
The Trust was constituted in a way that was designed to ensure that there was representation from a wide range of different interest groups and sections of the community.  For example, places were reserved for Trustees to represent the different geographical parts of the local area and particular interest groups for wildlife, sport, theatre, youth, the local church & the local business community.  In addition, a range of other bodies—including DMBC, the Parish Council, the Community Wildlife Group, the Environment Agency, the Police, the local schools & the Doncaster CVS—were each given the right to appoint one or more Trustees.  In all, provision was made for a total of 20 Trustees. 

4.12.
At or about this same time, other very significant developments were that—

· in the light of the revised planning situation, Pilkington agreed to release, by way of gift, various parts of their landholdings.  To cut a long story short, what eventually happened was that (a) the woodland area (the Grove Farm Community Orchard) was transferred part into the ownership of the Parish Council and part into the ownership of DMBC (this was referred to as Phase 1 of the Glass Park), (b) the area including the former glass tip—i.e. the site of the Millennium Green—was transferred into the ownership of the GPMGT (Phase 2) and (c) the recreation ground was transferred into the ownership of the Parish Council (Phase 3).  In total, some 57 acres of land were at this time transferred into public or community ownership;   and

· the GPMGT was successful in its efforts to secure substantial capital funding from, for example, the Countryside Commission and the Millennium Commission.  The GPMGT was therefore in a position to proceed with the necessary works to ‘’treat’’ and landscape the former glass tip land and to create the Millennium Green.

4.13.
After the Millennium Green had been successfully created, some of the leading players associated with the Glass Park (including Martin Winter) then turned their attention to the proposed Phase 4 of the overall project.  The objective of this Phase was to promote a new ‘’mixed use’’ development around and including the Grove Farm buildings (which were still in Pilkington’s ownership).  It was envisaged that a development of this type could provide employment opportunities, could provide a ‘’focal point’’ for the whole Glass Park area (e.g by incorporating some form of visitor centre) and, perhaps most importantly, could generate a secure income stream that would help towards the costs of maintaining the first 3 Phases—none of which were income generating.

4.14.
These Phase 4 proposals were subsequently taken forward by (a) securing funding to pay for the preparation of a detailed Business Plan (completed in late 1999) and (b) securing funding to pay for the services of a Project Director (for 12 months) and to create a new company--the Glass Park Development Company--as a ‘’community enterprise’’ vehicle to take the proposals forward (this company was created in August 2000).  The specific projects that related to (a) & (b) above are described in more detail in the next section of this report.

4.15.
It is however relevant to mention at this stage that the new Glass Park Development Company, although created as a separate legal entity from the existing GPMGT (this was necessary because the constitution of the Trust effectively limited its activities to looking after the Millennium Green), was nevertheless closely connected to the Trust.  In particular—

· the Company was incorporated in the form of a company limited by guarantee (i.e. with members, rather than shareholders) and the Trust was one of the members;
· the Trust had the right to appoint 4 of the Company’s Directors;
· the Trust acted as a form of advisory group to the Company;   and
· any profits that the Company might generate were to be passed up to the Trust by way of covenant.
4.16.
The first Directors of the Company were Martin Hilton & Liz Jeffress—they remain to this day as Directors of the Company.  The first Company Secretary was Martin Winter.  However, following his withdrawal from active involvement with the Glass Park (see below), Martin Winter resigned from this position.  The position was then taken over by Carolyne Hunter, Martin Winter’s partner.  The current Company Secretary is Liz Jeffress.

4.17.
Before dealing with the circumstances of Martin Winter’s withdrawal from all Glass Park activities in 2001, it is relevant for me to refer to the impression that I have gained, from my meetings and discussions, of how the Glass Park Millennium Green Trust operated, from its creation in 1998 up until about 2001.

4.18.
The clear impression that I have gained is that, during this period, the Trust was, by any standard, very successful.  This was not only in terms of successfully completing the major task of establishing the Millennium Green, but also in terms of involving the local community (including the local schools) in a wide range of well attended events and activities.  It would certainly appear that, during this period, the Trust enjoyed widespread support and interest from the local community.  Another impression I have gained is that, during this period, the affairs of the Trust were well conducted and organised, with proper attention being paid to matters of probity and accountability.

4.19.
These impressions are certainly consistent with what I have been told by those ‘’independent’’ persons (Inspector Lomas, John Housham & George Boot) who served as Trustees at this time.  For example, some of the things that they have said to me include—

· ‘’my impression of the core group was that they were local people who were genuinely committed to improving the environment of their area by providing a new leisure facility that would be of benefit to the whole community, but particularly to young people’’

· ‘’I was impressed by the enthusiasm and involvement of a very large number of local people….there was a real buzz about the project’’

·  ‘’there was a strong culture of openness and honesty, which I always found re-assuring….I admired the professional manner in which the quarterly meetings of the Trust were conducted’’

· ‘’the meetings were well managed, with full accounts and reports being provided to the Trustees’’

· ‘’it was a real pleasure to be involved with the Trust at this time’’

4.20.
In May 2001, Martin Winter became the Leader of DMBC.  Although he had remained actively involved with the Glass Park project during the 2 years since he had first been elected to the Council (in May 1999), he decided that, once he had become Leader, the potential for conflicts of interest was so great that he should withdraw from active involvement with the project.  He explained this to the Trustees of the GPMGT and then relinquished all his positions as (a) the Secretary to the GPMGT, (b) the Company Secretary of the Glass Park Development Company and (c) the de facto ‘’Director’’ of the whole project.

4.21.
Over the years following Martin Winter’s withdrawal from active involvement, the fortunes of the project appear to have steadily declined.  How much this has been due to the loss of what has been described to me (by one of the ‘’independent’’ Trustees) as the ‘’vision, organisational skills and drive’’ of Martin Winter or how much to other factors, I cannot be sure—although a number of people have identified Martin Winter’s withdrawal as the main cause.  Whatever the causes, it is clear that the number of local people who have been willing to volunteer for activities such as helping to maintain the Millennium Green and organise activities & events has declined.  The Green and surrounding area are now in a somewhat overgrown and apparently ‘’uncared for’’ state.  Similarly, the number of Trustees serving on the GPMGT has declined to 7 or so.

4.22.
The ambitions for the Glass Park Development Company, at least as regards its role in promoting some form of ‘’mixed use’’ development around Grove Farm, have not so far been realised.  However, I understand that this position may possibly change in the near future.  A private developer, Urban Eye, has recently applied to DMBC for planning permission for a large scale ‘’mixed use’’ development, taking in the Grove Farm buildings and all the land between the Farm and the River Don.  As I understand it, if this development proceeds, one or more of the Grove Farm buildings would be restored and converted into use, possibly by the Glass Park Development Company, as a visitor centre.  The application for this development (the Grove Road Urban Village development) has not yet been determined by the Council. 

4.23.
Finally, as regards this description of the origins and development of the Glass Park project, it is relevant to mention some of the things that Martin Winter has said to me.  Looking back over his contribution to the project, he has told me—

· that he devoted a large part of 10 years of his life (between 1991 & 2001) to the Glass Park project.  He was totally committed to it. On two occasions, he even went so far as to re-mortgage his house in order to raise funds for it;

· that, up until the time of the Community Enterprise project in 2000/01 (when his Consultancy was paid for his services as Project Director—see the next section of this report), all of his time had been given free.  He had been able to do this because of the financial success of the Martin Winter Consultancy that he had established in 1993.  In other words, his private consultancy work had allowed him (in effect) to subsidise the Glass Park project;

· that he was immensely proud of what the project had achieved up until 2001;

· that his becoming Leader of the Council, and subsequently the Mayor, had not done the project any favours—in fact, quite the opposite;   and

· that the progress that had been made since 2001, as regards both proceeding with Phase 4 and properly maintaining the first 3 Phases, had been very disappointing.  As to the reasons for this, he mentioned (a) the restrictions that had been introduced in consequence of the Foot & Mouth crisis and (b) the activities of his political opponents who, he believed, were determined to frustrate the project—probably, in his opinion, because of the fact that, in most people’s minds, the project was so closely associated with him. 

5.  THE SPECIFIC GLASS PARK PROJECTS

5.1.
The Audit Commission selected 4 specific Glass Park projects to examine as part of their investigation.  However, it should be noted that one of these 4 projects did not actually involve any funding directly provided by DMBC.  

5.2.
As indicated in my interim report of June 2006, I have taken a somewhat broader approach.  It appeared to me that, in the interests of providing the Council with as full and balanced a picture as possible, it would be right for me to examine not only the 4 projects examined by the Audit Commission, but also any other Glass Park projects that had received funding from DMBC over recent years.  I also indicated in my interim report that the total amount of DMBC funding that had been provided for all these various projects over recent years was in the order of £165,000—spread over 7 financial years from 1999/2000 to 2005/06.  As will be seen below, the total amount of DMBC funding is now shown as just over £151,000.  This is because I now realise that I had previously ‘’double counted’’ certain expenditure.

5.3.
On this basis, I have examined a total of 7 Glass Park projects, as listed below--

                                                                                                  DMBC funding

                                                                                                               £

Glass Park Phase 4—Business Plan for the Grove 

Farm Community Business Centre                                                  NIL

Grove Farm Community Enterprise Grant                                     24,500

(grant for associated training events)                                              3,600

Glass Park DoLFN project                                                               56,359 

Glass Park Flipside project                                                             50,000-
[The 4 projects listed above are those that were examined by the Audit Commission]

Recycling conference for the Doncaster Community 

Recycling Partnership—NDC grant                                                   9,048

Doncaster Farmers Market—Community Chest grant                    5,663

Core Equipment grant—SRB5                                                           1,875 

                                                                 TOTAL     :                       151,045

5.4.
I am confident that the above list of Glass Park projects (which includes payments made to the Glass Park Millennium Green Trust, as well as to the Glass Park Development Company) represents a complete list of all the projects--at least, back to the 1998/99 financial year.  This is because a senior member of the Council’s finance staff, having interrogated the payment records back to 1998/99, has been able to assure me that the above list captures all those where any payment has been made. 

5.5.
Over and above the 7 projects listed above, I have also examined (although in less detail) 3 further Glass Park projects which involved funding applications to DMBC, but which did not for one reason or another proceed--and where no funding was actually provided by DMBC.  These 3 further projects are as follows--

Renovation of the Glass Park Recreation Ground  (a project that gained first stage approval under SRB5, but did not in the event proceed)


Community Composting research & development project  (again a project that gained first stage approval under SRB5, but did not in the event proceed)


Doncaster Funeral Advocacy project  (a project that failed to gain first stage approval under SRB5)


My descriptions of all these Glass Park projects now follow.

Glass Park Phase 4—Business Plan for the Grove Farm Community Business Centre

5.6.
This is the one project, out of the 4 examined by the Audit Commission, that did not actually involve any funding direct from DMBC.  The following description is based largely on information (together with supporting papers) provided to me at my meetings with Martin Kendall and with Mayor Martin Winter.

5.7.
The objective of this project was to produce a detailed and fully costed Business Plan for the 4th phase of the Glass Park proposals.  As mentioned earlier in this report, this phase related to the development of the Grove Farm buildings and site as a community enterprise centre, comprising a mixture of commercial and community enterprises.  It was envisaged that the centre would provide employment in a range of ‘’green’’ businesses and would at the same time be ‘’anchored in the local community’’.  Crucially, it was also envisaged that these development proposals, once implemented, would produce an income stream that would contribute to the maintenance of the first 3 phases of the Glass Park.

5.8.
The total cost of the project (including the cost of commissioning consultants to prepare the Business Plan) was £35,000.  The largest single funding contribution was from the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF), by way of an application to the Government Office under Objective 2 Priority 5.  In the event, the project received a grant of £15,000 from the ERDF.  This was then supplemented by a contribution of £10,000 from Yorkshire Forward, together with a ‘’matched funding’’ contribution of a further £10,000 from the applicants—i.e. the Kirk Sandall Community Wildlife Group (this was shortly before the Glass Park Millennium Green Trust was formally established).

5.9.
The funding application to the Government Office was made during 1998 by Martin Winter on behalf of the Community Wildlife Group.  In accordance with normal practice, the Government Office sought the Council’s views on the application.  In particular, the Council would have been asked to indicate (a) whether the outputs proposed by the application would contribute to the Doncaster Plan, (b) whether the applicant organisation appeared to be a suitable organisation to receive the grant and (c) whether any necessary ‘’matched funding’’ was available.  The details of this ‘’local endorsement process’’ by the Council were handled at the time by two groups, under the auspices of the Doncaster Strategic Partnership.  The first group was the Doncaster European Network (chaired at that time by Lorraine Huckerby) and the second was the Priority 5 Working Group (chaired at that time by Martin Kendall).

5.10.
The application was ‘’locally endorsed’’ through these Council processes towards the end of 1998--so far as I have been able to tell, there was no reason why it should not have been--and was then formally approved by the Government Office.  This approval was issued in March 1999.  

5.11.
It is worth emphasising at this point that all the various processes concerning the submission, consideration and approval of this particular application were completed before Martin Winter was first elected to Doncaster Council in May 1999.  As regards the position after he was elected to the Council, it is the case that, very shortly after his election, he was appointed (as a Councillor representing Stainforth Ward) to the Doncaster Rural Partnership Board.  One of the roles of this body was to review progress on projects (such as the Glass Park project) that were being funded with ERDF monies.  It is clear from the papers and minutes of various meetings during 1999 & 2000 that progress reports on the Glass Park project were submitted to the Partnership Board, of which Martin Winter was now a member.  It is however equally clear that, on each occasion when this happened and when Martin Winter was present, he duly declared his interest.  It would appear that the last of these progress reports (indicating that the project had been completed) was submitted to the Partnership Board meeting in June 2000.    

5.12.
As regards the selection of the consultants to undertake the task of preparing the Business Plan, Mayor Winter has told me that he went to some lengths to draw up a fair and rigorous tendering process and that he agreed this process in detail with the Government Office.  In the event, the commission was placed with the Bristol based Foundation for Local Food Initiatives.  They completed their work on the Business Plan towards the end of 1999.  Mayor Winter believes that the Business Plan that they produced was ‘’excellent’’.  He also remains confident that, despite the lack of progress since 2001, the Plan remains fully relevant and capable of implementation.

5.13.
I do not think that it is necessary, for the purposes of this report, to say anything more about this particular project.  It did not of course involve any funding direct from Doncaster Council and, throughout the course of my investigation, I have not in fact come across any specific queries, concerns or criticisms relating to this project.

Grove Farm Community Enterprise Grant

5.14.
For reasons that are explained later, I have almost certainly spent more time examining the details of this particular project (i.e. the main grant of £24,500 under the Community Enterprise Programme) than any other.  The description that follows is based primarily on (a) my examination of the relevant papers from the Council’s files and (b) information provided at my meetings with Martin Kendall & Chris Adams (the DMBC officers who were involved with the project) and (c) information provided at my meetings with Martin Winter, Carolyne Hunter, Liz Jeffress & Martin Hilton (from the Glass Park side). 

5.15.
To start with the relevant background, Doncaster Council had at this time (the early part of 2000) been provided with a substantial financial allocation under the national Community Enterprise Programme.  The basic purpose of the funding that DMBC was responsible for managing was to assist local people to develop and establish ‘’community enterprises’’ (generally in the form of ‘’not for profit’’ companies) that would have some relevance to the needs of their community.  Assistance was available to help people from the initial stage of developing a proposal through to the stage at which the enterprise was in a position to start trading.  Doncaster Council had employed an officer (Chris Adams) on a fixed term contract as its Community Enterprise Development Officer—he was employed on this basis between November 1999 and March 2002.  His role was to publicise and promote the availability of this form of assistance and to deal with any applications received.  The approval body for such applications was the Community Enterprise Steering Group.  This was a body created specifically for this purpose.  Its membership comprised a representative of the Government Office, Council officers and various outside persons who had relevant experience and expertise in the area of community enterprise.  The Steering Group was chaired by Martin Kendall, the Council officer to whom Chris Adams reported.  

5.16.
In early March 2000, an application was received by the Council for a grant of £24,500 in connection with the proposed establishment of a community enterprise company, to be known as the Glass Park Development Company.  According to the application form (dated 8 March 2000), it was proposed that the bulk of the grant (i.e. £19,200) would be spent on engaging the services of a Project Director for a 12 month period.  The balance of the grant would be spent on a miscellany of items including office accommodation & equipment, other tools & equipment and the legal costs associated with establishing the proposed company.  

5.17.
Prior to this application being submitted, there had been discussions between Chris Adams and various Glass Park people—in particular, Martin Winter (who was by this time a DMBC Councillor, having been elected in May 1999).

5.18.
Chris Adams saw the potential application as being highly relevant to the objectives of the Community Enterprise Programme.  He also saw it as a particularly strong application because, unlike many others, it was already supported by a fully developed Business Plan—i.e. the plan produced during 1999 by the Foundation for Local Food Initiatives (see earlier).

5.19.
For their part, Martin Winter and the other Glass Park people saw the prospect of securing a Community Enterprise grant as an important step towards achieving the next stage of development (Phase 4) of the Glass Park proposals, as envisaged by the Business Plan—i.e. the creation of a ‘’core services’’ company that would act as the vehicle for taking forward the plans for Grove Farm.  On the other hand, Martin Winter has told me that, up until this time, his advice to the other Glass Park people had been to keep DMBC ‘’at arm’s length’’ from the Glass Park project.  In other words, he had some reservations about the wisdom of the project entering into what was to become its first direct funding relationship with Doncaster Council.  However, he went on to say that, because of (a) the project’s urgent need for funds in order to take forward the ‘’core services’’ company proposal and (b) the encouraging indications from the Council, he was eventually persuaded that it was in the best interests of the project to pursue the Community Enterprise application.

5.20.
In any event, the application was put forward (with other applications) for consideration by the Community Enterprise Steering Group at a meeting on 15 March 2000.  According to the minutes of that meeting (and as confirmed by both Martin Kendall and Chris Adams), the Glass Park application was evaluated against the Steering Group’s normal assessment criteria.  It scored highly against these criteria (17 out of the maximum of 19 points) and it was therefore approved.  The Steering Group’s decision was that £15,000 of the requested grant would be made available straightaway (before the end of March 2000 and therefore within the 1999/2000 financial year), but that the payment of the balance of £9,500 would be subject to a satisfactory progress report in approximately 6 months’ time.  [Note: It was apparently normal practice for grants of this type to be paid ‘’up front’’.  It is also clear, from the minutes of the meeting, that the Council was under some pressure to maximise its expenditure under the Community Enterprise programme within the 1999/2000 financial year.  From this point of view, it was therefore in the Council’s interests to release the bulk of the grant straightaway.]

5.21.
Following the Steering Group meeting, the normal type of grant acceptance form was signed (on 22 March 2000) by Martin Hilton, the Chairman of Glass Park and the Council’s cheque for £15,000 was then forwarded to Mr Hilton with a letter dated 18 April 2000. 

5.22.
Following a process (described in more detail later on in this report) to find a suitable person to act as the Project Director, the decision was taken in late May/early June 2000 to engage Martin Winter (via his consultancy firm—the Martin Winter Consultancy) to discharge this role.

5.23.
The progress of this Community Enterprise project, along with all others, was monitored by Chris Adams.  At a subsequent meeting on 19 September 2000, the Community Enterprise Steering Group considered whether the balance (£9,500) of the grant should be released.  One of the papers considered at this meeting was a letter from Martin Hilton, summarising the progress that had been made.  This included reference to the fact that the proposed new company—the Glass Park Development Company—had been formed and had been registered at Companies House in early August 2000.  The Steering Group was satisfied with the progress that had been made and therefore authorised the release of the balance of the grant.  The Council’s cheque for £9,500 was issued at the end of September 2000.

5.24.
Given that the grant monies had been provided ‘’up front’’, it was then incumbent on the grant recipient to produce evidence to the Council (Chris Adams) of how the grant monies had been expended.  It was apparently normal practice for Chris Adams to visit the grant-aided projects at regular intervals and, on these occasions, to look through all the relevant evidence of expenditure, in the form of paid invoices & receipts etc.  He would then take away with him photocopies of those that he regarded as relevant.  He needed of course to be satisfied (a) that the expenditure referred to in the documents was in line with the grant purpose (i.e. furthering the establishment of a community enterprise) and (b) that the total amount of expenditure was at least equal to the amount of the grant monies that had been paid out.

5.25.
So far as the Glass Park project was concerned, the copy documents that finished up on the Council’s file, by this process, indicated expenditure adding up to a total of some £27,100—i.e. more than covering the grant monies of £24,500 that had been paid out.  This evidence of expenditure included a series of invoices (totalling £19,200) paid to the Martin Winter Consultancy for Project Director services.  This amount was of course in line with what had been stated in the original application form.  The project finished on 31 March 2001. 

5.26.
Finally, so far as this description of the Community Enterprise project is concerned, it is important to record that the two Council officers (Martin Kendall & Chris Adams), who were most closely involved with the project, have both told me that they did not at the time have any particular concerns or queries about the project.  Indeed, Chris Adams, who monitored the project, told me that, amongst all the applications that he dealt with over his 2 years or so with the Council, he would ‘’mark the Glass Park application at the top end’’.  He went on to identify the particular strengths of the application, as he saw them, as being (a) the scope & ambition of the Business Plan, (b) its prospects of sustainability, (c) the fact that the project had a ‘’driving force’’ behind it, in the person of Martin Winter and (d) the fact that the project appeared to enjoy broad & credible support within the local community.

5.27.
However, it is then necessary to move forward a number of years to the time when the Audit Commission had completed their investigation of this and certain other Glass Park projects.  It was then, following re-examination of the Council’s files, that certain queries emerged.  These included the queries that prompted the reference to the Police (in December 2005) and the subsequent Police investigation.  In brief, the queries that emerged related to--

· the genuineness of the signatures on various items of correspondence and forms associated with the grant application;

· the process by which the Martin Winter Consultancy had been engaged to carry out the Project Director role;

· the genuineness of two particular invoices submitted by the Martin Winter Consultancy;   and

· the genuineness of a particular document (forming part of the evidence of expenditure on the Council’s file) referring to a payment of £5,000 to the Foundation for Local Food Initiatives for ‘’Recruitment Advice’’.

5.28.
As we now know, the outcome of the Police investigation (as announced in late June 2006) was a decision that no criminal proceedings were to be instituted.  Nevertheless, I have, as part of my own investigation, proceeded to examine each of the queries listed above.  This has NOT of course been to re-examine the issue of possible criminality.  Given the outcome of the Police investigation, I have regarded this particular issue as fully dealt with and therefore closed.  Rather, the purposes of my examination have been to see (a) whether there are any issues of apparent misconduct (e.g. under the Local Government Code of Conduct) on which I should report and also more generally (b) whether there are any further lessons that the Council might usefully learn from these matters.   

5.29.
The results of my examination of these various queries are set out below.

The signatures query

5.30.
This query, as subsequently investigated by the Police, focused on the apparent similarity between (a) the style of the signature, in the name of Martin Hilton, that had appeared on the March 2000 grant application form and (b) the style in which Martin Winter normally signs his own name.  In other words, there was a suspicion that Martin Winter might have been the person who actually signed the application form, albeit in the name of Martin Hilton.

5.31.
Martin Winter’s position on this matter (as explained to me) is that, whilst he confirms that he was indeed the person who completed all the details within the 7 page application form, he certainly did not sign the form.  Rather, it was Martin Hilton, as the Chairman of Glass Park, who signed it.  So far as Martin Winter can recall (bearing in mind that we are dealing with events that took place more than 6 years ago), Martin Hilton signed the application form in his presence.  He also recalls—and he wonders whether this may in fact be the cause of the uncertainty about the genuineness of the signature—that Martin Hilton used his (Martin Winter’s) fountain pen to do so.  Given that Martin Hilton was not familiar with the use of this pen, his signature may have finished up with an ‘’untypical’’ appearance.

5.32.
Martin Hilton’s position on this matter (as explained to me) is that he has no specific recollection of signing these particular documents, but that (looking at them again) he believes that the signatures ‘’could well be’’ his signatures.  He confirms that, at or about this time, he was signing lots of documents on behalf of the Glass Park organisation.

5.33.
Thanks to the co-operation of the Police, I have also been given sight of the statement prepared by the handwriting expert from the Forensic Science Service who examined the signature on the application form, together with sample signatures provided by Martin Hilton & Martin Winter.  However, this statement indicates that the examination has not produced any conclusive evidence.  There is apparently strong (but not conclusive) support for the proposition that the signature on the application form was not produced by Martin Hilton, but as regards the proposition that this signature was actually produced by Martin Winter, the evidence is completely inconclusive.         

5.34.
Taking all of this together, I do not believe, as regards the signature on the application form, that there is evidence of any misconduct on which I should report.  I can understand why the query was raised, but given the inconclusive nature of the statement from the Forensic Science Service, there is clearly no evidential basis on which I can conclude that this signature was produced by Martin Winter.

5.35.
Before leaving this particular query, it would be right for me to make some brief comment about the potential ‘’significance’’ of the signatures issue.  My comment is that, although it must always be a matter of serious concern if and when it can be shown that a local authority had been presented with a ‘’false’’ signature, it has to be remembered that the basic function of the signature on this type of application form was simply to confirm (a) that all the details that were included within the form were correct (which all the available evidence suggests that they were) and (b) that the applicant organisation was willing to abide by the relevant grant conditions (which again all the available evidence suggests that it was).  

The process by which the Martin Winter Consultancy was engaged to discharge the Project Director role

5.36.
There was never, or so I understand, any suggestion of criminality associated with this particular query.  Rather, this query was more concerned with propriety, and the appearance of propriety, having regard to the basic facts that (a) Councillor Winter (as he then was) had played a significant part in helping the Glass Park organisation to secure the Community Enterprise grant from Doncaster Council and (b) the majority of the grant monies were in the event utilised to pay fees to Councillor Winter’s own consultancy.

5.37.
Starting with the facts (as I have been able to establish them), I am first of all satisfied that, in his pre-application conversations with Chris Adams, Martin Winter made no secret of the fact that, if the grant application went ahead and was successful, he (Martin Winter) would be interested in providing the Project Director service.  I am equally satisfied that Chris Adams’ response to this was to the effect that he did not see this as a problem, but that it would be very important that any procurement process undertaken by the Glass Park organisation, in order to decide who should provide the Project Director service, was properly ‘’open & transparent’’, so as to satisfy the requirements of equal opportunities.  Chris Adams attached particular importance (quite rightly, in my judgement) to the opportunity being openly advertised.  

5.38.
What then happened, after the approval of the Community Enterprise grant in March 2000, was that Martin Winter distanced himself from any involvement in deciding what form the procurement process should take.  He left this matter to others within the Glass Park organisation, principally Martin Hilton and Liz Jeffress, to deal with.  They approached the Foundation for Local Food Initiatives (the same body that had prepared the 1999 Business Plan) for assistance.  It was agreed that the Foundation would look after the various steps of advertising the opportunity, responding to expressions of interest and receiving the applications.  The involvement of the Foundation in this way was seen as giving the whole procurement process a degree of independence and impartiality. 

5.39.
An ‘’Invitation to Tender’’ document was prepared, which invited proposals from self employed contractors to provide the Project Director service for a period of 12 months.  The document also provided details of the Glass Park project, the desired outcomes and the type of experience that interested parties would need to be able to demonstrate.  [Note: As to why the Project Director had to be a self employed contractor, rather than a person who would be directly employed on a fixed term contract, it has been explained to me—and confirmed by reference to various documents—that the Glass Park has consistently adopted the practice of engaging self employed contractors, rather than directly employing individuals.  The reason for this has simply been to avoid the additional time & expense that is involved in acting as an employer—e.g. having to deal with PAYE & National Insurance etc.  In other words, the way in which this Project Director opportunity was dealt with was, in this sense, consistent with the way in which all other opportunities to work for the Glass Park were dealt with.]

5.40.
A public advertisement was then placed in the South Yorkshire Press.  This contained brief descriptions of the project and of what was expected of the Project Director and invited interested persons to telephone the Foundation (in Bristol) for further details and an application pack.  The advertisement went on to say that the closing date for applications was 19 May 2000 and that interviews would be held on 30 May 2000.

5.41.
According to the available records, the next, and indeed final, stage of this matter was on 29 May 2000 when there was a telephone conference between a representative of the Foundation and Martin Hilton & Liz Jeffress.  There is a written minute (prepared by the Foundation) of this telephone conference which records—

· that the Foundation had sent out a total of 5 application packs, but that only 2 applications (one from the Martin Winter Consultancy and the other from another resident of Kirk Sandall) had been received;

· that copies of the 2 applications had been sent to Martin Hilton & Liz Jeffress for them to study in advance of the telephone conference;   and

· that, following discussion of the 2 applications (including a comparison between the contents of the applications and the requirements set out in the Invitation to Tender documents), the decision was taken to offer the contract to the Martin Winter Consultancy.  Finally, it was agreed that the Foundation would be responsible for making the written offer to Martin Winter.

5.42.
In other words, despite what the advertisement had implied, no interviews were actually held.  Rather, the decision was taken solely on the basis of this telephone discussion of the 2 written applications.  The Foundation’s letter to Martin Winter, confirming the offer of the contract, was dated 6 June 2000.

5.43.
Finally, so far as this description of the procurement process is concerned, it is important to record that Chris Adams confirmed, both at the time and when I met with him as part of my investigation, that he was satisfied with how the process had been handled.

5.44.
As regards my own assessment of this matter, I have to say that I am not satisfied that this process was—or, at least, had the appearance of being—sufficiently ‘’open & transparent’’.  However, in making this comment, I must make it clear—

· that my comment is not intended as a criticism of any of the Glass Park people who were involved in the process.  I accept that they effectively did all that they were advised to do;

· that I am not suggesting that the application from the Martin Winter Consultancy was not the stronger application or that Martin Winter was not properly qualified and experienced to discharge the role of Project Director.  On the contrary, all the evidence available to me suggests that he was extremely well qualified and experienced;   and

· that I am very conscious that I am making this comment (a) with the considerable benefit of hindsight and probably also (b) by applying the standards of today to events that took place more than 6 years ago.

5.45.
Nevertheless, I do consider that, on account of (a) the fact that Martin Winter had played a leading role in securing the grant from the local authority of which he was himself a member and (b) the fact that it was known from the outset that Martin Winter was interested in being engaged as the Project Director (and therefore that his Consultancy was a potential recipient of the bulk of the grant monies), further steps should have been insisted upon by the Council in order to strengthen the openness & transparency of the process.  Otherwise, it seems to me that there was always likely to be scope for the perception that, putting it somewhat crudely, the procurement process was a ‘’sham’’—i.e. that its outcome had been pre-determined.

5.46.
As an example of what further steps the Council might have insisted upon, I have in mind is that, in these special circumstances, the Council might have stipulated that one of its own senior officers should have been involved throughout the process.  If this had happened, I would also have expected the applicants to have been interviewed, with the senior Council officer present.

The two invoices query

5.47.
This has been the simplest of the various queries to resolve.

5.48.
The query arose because, when the papers on the file (representing the evidence of how the grant monies had been expended) were re-examined, it was noticed that two of the invoices from the Martin Winter Consultancy, for providing Project Director services, were dated respectively February and March 2000.

5.49.
This could not of course be right because (a) the grant for the project had not been approved until late March 2000 and (b) the Martin Winter Consultancy had not been engaged until early June 2000.

5.50.
However, where they appeared on the Council’s file, these two invoices were the final two invoices in a sequence of 9 invoices, starting with an invoice for June 2000.  The total of all 9 invoices was £19,200—i.e. the correct amount as per the original grant application.  There were no other invoices on the file relating to February & March 2001.

5.51.
In other words, the explanation appeared to be that the two invoices in question had simply been misdated—i.e. they should have carried the dates of February & March 2001, rather than February & March 2000.  Following detailed discussions with both Martin Winter and Carolyne Hunter, I am fully satisfied that this is the correct explanation.

5.52.
It follows that, as regards this particular query, there are no issues on which I need to report.

The query relating to the £5,000 receipt for ‘’Recruitment advice’’

5.53.
In contrast to the previous query, this particular query has proved to be very difficult to resolve.  Indeed, despite my best efforts (and despite the best efforts of the Police in their own earlier investigation), this query remains as something of a ‘’loose end’’.

5.54.
When the papers on the Council’s file (representing the evidence of how the grant monies had been expended) were re-examined, it was noticed that they included a photocopy of a document, headed ‘’Receipt of Payment’’, which appeared to be from the Foundation for Local Food Initiatives and which referred to a fee for ‘’Recruitment Advice’’, amounting (with VAT) to £5,000.

5.55.
The main reasons why this particular copy document was queried were--

· a fee of £5,000 for the advice and assistance that the Foundation had provided (i.e. in connection with the selection of the Project Director) appeared to be somewhat excessive and, more to the point, the Council’s file already included a separate copy invoice from the Foundation (for just over £350) that appeared to relate to the self same matter.  This separate invoice referred specifically to the ‘’Selection of Project Director’’;   and
· the layout and wording of this document differed in a number of respects from that of other invoices submitted by the Foundation.  In addition, the document was undated.
5.56.
The copy document also had some handwriting on it.  This handwriting comprised what appeared to be a date, a cheque number, the amount ‘’£5,000’’ and a set of initials.

5.57.
Further inquiries (principally by the Police, but also to a certain extent by me) have established—

· that the only charge made by the Foundation for the assistance they provided in connection with the selection of a Project Director (which was the only form of ‘’Recruitment Advice’’ that they ever provided in connection with this Community Enterprise project) was the amount of just over £350 referred to in the separate invoice;  
· that this ‘’Receipt of Payment’’ copy document was, almost certainly, not the copy of a genuine document issued by the Foundation;
· that none of the Glass Park people who had been involved at the time could recall seeing this particular document before;
· that Chris Adams had no specific recollection of this document;
· that it was the case that, in the Spring of 2000, the Foundation had received a payment of £5,000 from people associated with the Glass Park project, but that this had been the final payment for the earlier work undertaken by the Foundation in preparing the Business Plan, as commissioned by the Kirk Sandall Community Wildlife Group.  This payment was completely unrelated to any work the Foundation had undertaken in connection with the Community Enterprise project;   and
· that the handwriting on the copy document was, almost certainly, the handwriting of Carolyne Hunter (who looked after the books of the Glass Park), but apparently transposed from another document—i.e. the entirely separate invoice from the Foundation for the final payment for the Business Plan work.   

5.58.
In other words, all the available evidence points to the conclusion that this particular copy document is a ‘’false’’ document.  However, inquiries have been unable to establish (a) who might have fabricated it and for what reason and (b) how this copy document came to be on the Council’s file, as part of the evidence of expenditure of the Community Enterprise grant monies.

5.59.
So far as (a) is concerned, Martin Winter has shared with me his belief that it may well have been fabricated, in order ‘’to make mischief’’, by somebody who had fallen out with the Glass Park project.  However, he fully accepts that he is not in a position to prove this.  So far as (b) is concerned, the only credible explanation is that the document must have been at the Glass Park office on one of the occasions when Chris Adams visited the project and that it was one of the documents that was photocopied for him to take away with him.

5.60.
Quite apart from the general concern about the Council’s file containing an apparently ‘’false’’ document, it also of course became plain that the payment of £5,000 referred to in this copy document should not have been taken into account when calculating how the grant monies of £24,500 had been expended.  The position, after disregarding this payment, was that the remaining evidence of expenditure on the Council’s file only totalled some £22,100—i.e. approximately £2,400 short of the grant monies paid out by the Council.

5.61.
So far as the above issue is concerned, both Martin Winter and Carolyne Hunter had previously referred to there being further evidence of expenditure (over and above the evidence that was originally collected by Chris Adams and placed on the Council’s file) that demonstrated that expenditure on the project had in fact exceeded the grant monies total by an even wider margin.

5.62.
When the ‘’shortfall’’ mentioned above came to light, Carolyne Hunter was able to produce to me a number of further paid invoices that clearly related to the Community Enterprise project and that were over and above the invoices that had been originally collected by Chris Adams.  These further invoices included a single invoice for £2,499.  In other words, I was able to satisfy myself that, even after disregarding the ‘’false’’ document, there was sufficient evidence of expenditure available to cover the whole amount of the grant monies that had been paid out by the Council.

5.63.
Turning to my comments on this particular query, it is obviously very troubling that (a) the Council’s file relating to this project has been shown to contain a ‘’false’’ copy document and (b) despite all inquiries, it has proved impossible to establish or explain where this document came from or how it finished up on the Council’s file.  This is a most unfortunate ‘’loose end’’.

5.64.
However, I have been able to satisfy myself that, disregarding this ‘’false’’ document, there is sufficient evidence to show that the grant monies provided by the Council for this Community Enterprise project were properly spent on the purposes for which they had been provided.  On this basis, I do not believe that, on its own, the presence of this copy document provides any reason, or indeed grounds, for the Council to seek to re-claim any part of the grant monies.

5.65.
In addition to the main Community Enterprise grant of £24,500 that I have described in great detail above, there was also a smaller grant, again under the Community Enterprise Programme, of £3,600.  This was to enable the Glass Park Development Company to provide a series of training sessions for other persons or bodies interested or involved in establishing ‘’green’’ community enterprises of one form or another.  This was consistent with one of the aims originally stated for the Company. 

5.66.
The application for this grant was made in October 2001—i.e. after Martin Winter had withdrawn from active involvement with the Glass Park.  The application form was signed and submitted by Liz Jeffress, in her capacity as a Director of the Company.  The application went through the same process as the application described above and was considered at a meeting of the Community Enterprise Steering Group on 7 November 2001.  The application scored very highly against the assessment criteria (18 out of the maximum of 19 points) and was approved.  The normal grant acceptance form was signed by Liz Jeffress on 14 November 2001 and the Council’s cheque for £3,600 was then issued.  Details of all the training sessions that were subsequently provided, between December 2001 & March 2002, and the associated expenditure were collected by Chris Adams (who monitored the project on behalf of the Council) and were placed on the Council’s file.

5.67.
I have not come across any queries or concerns so far as this particular project is concerned. 

Glass Park DoLFN (Doncaster Local Food Network) project

5.68.
This project was promoted by the Glass Park Development Company (the GPDC).

5.69.
The description that follows is based primarily on (a) my examination of the papers from the Council’s files, (b) information provided at my meetings with Martin Kendall, Helen Lowe, Christian Foster & Paul Elliott (DMBC officers who had some involvement with this project), (c) information regarding the relevant S.106 Agreement that was provided at my meeting with officers from the DMBC Development Directorate and finally (d) information provided at my meetings with Martin Winter, Liz Jeffress, Martin Hilton and Carolyne Hunter (from the Glass Park side).

5.70.
This project was developed by Martin Winter, on behalf of the GPDC, during 2000.  This was at the time when he (via his Consultancy) was being paid as the Project Director for Glass Park.  The application for SRB5 funding was entitled ‘’Developing a sustainable food economy’’ and identified Martin Winter as the ‘’project officer’’.  According to this application, the key underlying objectives of the project as a whole were—

· to promote (a) low cost, locally grown and healthy food and (b) a more socially inclusive and sustainable local food economy in Doncaster;   and

· to promote the Glass Park as a centre of expertise, information and support for community food enterprises within Doncaster and the wider sub-region.

5.71.
These underlying objectives were to be achieved by a wide variety of means, but in particular by—

· establishing the first Farmers Market in Doncaster  [Note: This was, in the event, achieved];

· running an extensive series of ‘’community food related’’ seminars and training sessions  [Note: These seminars & training sessions were, in the event, delivered];   and

· establishing a variety of community gardens and community food initiatives in the Doncaster area, including a high profile best practice demonstration area (the ‘’Organic Demonstration Area’’) on the Glass Park site, and generally establishing the Glass Park as the Regional Information and Support Centre—i.e. as a resource to support and assist the establishment of new community gardens and community food initiatives within Doncaster and beyond.  [Note:  In the event, this was not achieved—or at least, not on anything like the scale that was originally envisaged]

5.72.
The application envisaged that the total cost of the project would be £120,000, spread over 3 financial from 2000/01 to 2002/03.  The particular application submitted in 2000 was for £55,000 of this total amount to be provided, as revenue support, from the SRB5 programme.  The application envisaged that funding for the balance (£65,000) of the total project cost would be obtained as follows—

· £50,000 from Objective 1 (ERDF);

· £12,500 from monies that the GPDC was due to receive under a S.106 Agreement—this is explained in more detail below;   and 

· £2,500 from funding under the Community Enterprise Programme—this was the only part of the proposed ‘’matched funding’’ that had actually been secured at the time of the application.

5.73.
The various papers from the Council’s files that refer to the appraisal and assessment of the SRB5 funding application (for £55,000) indicate that the application gained first stage approval (i.e. to proceed to the next stage of a full project appraisal) at a meeting of the Healthy & Safe Communities Group held in June 2000.  Once the full project appraisal had been prepared, the application was further considered, and approved, at a meeting of the same Group held in October 2000.  Martin Winter was invited to make a short presentation, about the project, at this October meeting.  [Note: I understand that it was not unusual for applicants to be invited to make presentations on these occasions]

5.74.
The papers also indicate that, at this October 2000 meeting, the Group gave specific attention to the issue of whether it was appropriate to approve the SRB5 funding (of £55,000) at this stage, when a decision on the availability of the Objective 1 funding (of £50,000) was apparently unlikely to be made for some considerable time—i.e. not until mid 2001.  The Group appear to have addressed this issue by considering how ‘’feasible’’ the project would be without the Objective 1 funding.  In any event, they decided to approve the SRB5 funding application and that the project should be reviewed at annual intervals.

5.75.
As a very brief summary of subsequent events, my understanding of what actually happened is that—

· the Objective 1 funding of £50,000, as envisaged in the SRB5 application, was not secured;

· the contribution of £12,500 from the S.106 monies, as envisaged in the application, was also not secured;

· the establishment of the Farmers Market went ahead and the Market continues to operate (in conjunction with the Council’s Markets office);

· the proposed series of seminars & training sessions was delivered;

· the proposed establishment of the Organic Demonstration Area and the ideas for developing the Glass Park as a Regional Centre did not proceed.  As I understand it, this was due not only to the fact that the ‘’matched funding’’ did not materialise, but also (in part) on account of the some of the restrictions introduced in the wake of the Foot & Mouth crisis of 2000;   and

· so far as the SRB5 funding was concerned, approval to ‘’re-profile’’ the project—i.e. at a reduced scale, without most of the ‘’matched funding’’, was obtained in 2003.  At the same time, a revised limit of £58,337 was set on the SRB funding. 

5.76.
Although Martin Winter was clearly instrumental in developing the project and then in securing the SRB5 funding, he withdrew from active involvement with the Glass Park at an early stage in the life of the DoLFN project.  The project was then looked after, on behalf of the GPDC, by a number of other Glass Park people, including David Shaw (as the ‘’project officer’’), Liz Jeffress & Carolyne Hunter.

5.77.
I should also mention that it is clear from the Council’s papers that from about 2003 onwards, Council officers encountered some difficulty in obtaining all the information that they needed from the GPDC in order to carry out their normal monitoring procedures.  Because of these difficulties (related to the monitoring of the ongoing Farmers Market activity), the Council wrote to the GPDC in April 2004 to tell them that the organisation had been re-categorised to ‘’Category C’’ on the Council’s risk assessment scale.  The effect of this, as explained in the letter, was that if the organisation applied for further grant funding from the Council and was successful, the actual award of any grant was likely to be held back until the Council was satisfied that the organisation had all the necessary systems and processes in place.

5.78.
So far as my investigation is concerned, 3 specific issues that I have looked at in relation to this project are (i) the ‘’matched funding’’ issue, (ii) the issue to do with the proportion of spend on ‘’administration’’ and (iii) the issue relating to the S.106 Agreement monies.  These 3 issues are dealt with below—

The ‘’matched funding’’ issue

5.79.
I can be very brief on this issue, because it is dealt with quite fully in the Audit Commission’s report and I basically agree with the concern expressed in that report.  If nothing else, there was an unfortunate lack of clarity surrounding this issue.  It is the case that the papers relating to the appraisal of the project contained the suggestion that, on account of the uncertainty about whether the Objective 1 funding would be secured, it might be ‘’prudent’’ to impose a condition that the SRB5 funding would only be awarded once the Objective 1 funding had actually been secured.  In the event, as already explained above, this suggestion was not acted upon.

5.80.
It is very easy to make judgements with the benefit of hindsight, but it would appear (many years after the event) that the ‘’match funding’’ issue was, as it were, ‘’fudged’’.  I cannot be certain, but from all the material I have seen, I suspect that this came about because (a) it was confidently assumed that the Objective 1 funding application would be successful, (b) it was felt that, even if some or all of the ‘’matched funding’’ failed to materialise, some elements of the project would be able to proceed and that these elements (on their own) had the potential to produce worthwhile outcomes and (c) it was important at that time to maximise expenditure under the SRB5 programme.

The spend on ‘’administration’’ issue

5.81.
This is another issue that is referred to at a number of places within the Audit Commission’s report.  For example, within the Detailed Findings section of their report, they express concern at the fact that, on one project (presumably, this DoLFN project), some 67% of the funding was spent on ‘’administration’’.  The Commission go on to recommend (R 5) that ‘’The Council should set indicative limits on the proportion of administration costs it believes is reasonable within individual projects to facilitate effective project monitoring’’.

5.82.
As part of my investigation, I have met with the Council’s Finance officer who was responsible, throughout the DoLFN project, for examining the details of every grant claim submitted by the GPDC and for advising on whether the claims should be paid.  This officer was very clear that, subject to correcting some occasional arithmetical errors, she had been entirely satisfied with all the claims submitted.  This was ‘’satisfied’’ in the sense that (a) the type of expenditure involved corresponded with one or other of the purposes for which the funding had been approved, (b) the expenditure was fully & properly evidenced and (c) the amounts of the expenditure appeared to be reasonable.

5.83.
She explained to me (and this was subsequently confirmed to me direct by certain of the Glass Park people) that, after Martin Winter had withdrawn from active involvement, the GPDC had not engaged a full time project officer to look after the DoLFN project.  Rather, the project had been looked after by a number of different individuals working on a part time basis.  The Council’s Finance officer went on to say that the claims that had been submitted for the time of these individuals had all been supported by time sheets and had been based on a fairly modest rate of pay—normally, £5 per hour.  It certainly appeared that the net effect of this arrangement was that less grant was being claimed for ‘’project officer’’ services than would have been the case if a single full time person had been fulfilling this role.

5.84.
My general comment on this issue is that, whilst I am satisfied that the financial monitoring of the DoLFN project at a detailed level was carried out in an efficient and thorough manner, I am not so sure about the effectiveness of the Council’s monitoring at a more strategic level.  In saying this, I believe that I am in fact reflecting what lies at the heart of the Audit Commission’s concern.  I shall return to this topic in a later section of this report. 

5.85.
As regards the Audit Commission’s recommendation (about setting indicative limits), I have no difficulty with the underlying principle of this, although I would want to express it rather differently.  This is because (a) the term ‘’administration’’ seems to me to be so broad as to be capable of covering a multitude of different activities and (b) I think that it is important to avoid giving the impression that money spent on  ‘’administration’’ must necessarily be regarded as money that is not, as it were, ‘’well spent’’.  For example, it is, I think, perfectly possible to think of a project that was entirely ‘’administrative’’ in nature—for such a project, it might therefore be perfectly reasonable for 100% of the funding to be spent on ‘’administration’’.

5.86.
As an alternative to simply setting a cost limit on ‘’administration’’, I think that it might be more satisfactory to deal with this issue more broadly by emphasising the importance, when defining the terms of a grant approval, of being as specific as possible about what the money is to be spent on and by making it clear that, subject probably to various  ‘’tolerances’’, a further approval must be sought before the money can be spent in any other ways.
The S.106 Agreement monies issue

5.87.
I have looked at this issue for two reasons.  The first reason is because S.106 monies were identified as one of the sources of ‘’matched funding’’ (that did not in the event materialise) for the DoLFN project.  The second reason is because both Liz Jeffress and Martin Hilton, during my meetings with them, drew my specific attention to this issue--as a bone of contention between the Council and the Glass Park Development Company (the GPDC).

5.88.
The S.106 Agreement in question was an Agreement of February 2001 which was made between (1) Bramall & Ogden Limited (the developer), (2) DMBC and (3) the GPDC.  This Agreement arose out of the developer’s planning application (submitted during 2000) for permission to construct a new housing development on an area of land adjoining the Grove Farm site in Kirk Sandall.  By this time, the land in question was allocated for ‘’mixed use’’ development.  Because the planning application was purely for new housing, it was therefore unlikely to be acceptable.  However, following a series of discussions between Council officers and the developer (but also involving Martin Winter, as the then Project Director of the GPDC) and then approval by the Council, it was decided that planning permission could be granted for the new housing development provided that (inter alia) the developer agreed to pay to the Council a sum of £120,000 as what was referred to as ‘’the Mixed Use Sum’’.  The logic of this arrangement was that the £120,000 would be made available (by the Council) to enable or assist the GPDC to undertake an appropriate ‘’mixed use’’ development of the Grove Farm site.  By this means, the planning objectives underlying the ‘’mixed use’’ allocation would be achieved.  

5.89.
Under the terms of the Agreement, the GPDC were due to expend the £120,000 on an appropriate ‘’mixed use’’ development of the Grove Farm site within a period of 3 years.  The Agreement went on to provide that in the event of the GPDC being unable to acquire ownership of the Grove Farm site (which was, and indeed still is, owned by Pilkington) within this 3 year period, then the £120,000 could be made available by the Council to assist the GPDC to undertake some appropriate development within the larger Glass Park area (i.e. not confined to the Grove Farm site).

5.90.
The current position, several years later, is that the vast bulk of the £120,000 is still held by the Council and has not been released to the GPDC.  The only amount so far released has been an amount of £2,100—this was released to enable the GPDC to meet certain professional fees.    

5.91.
Liz Jeffress has provided me with a substantial bundle of correspondence on this matter.  This bundle comprises mainly copy letters that she or Martin Hilton have sent to the Council (the Development Directorate), asking for the release of the S.106 monies for one purpose or another.  Both she & Martin Hilton clearly feel that the Council has been less than helpful in facilitating the release of these monies.

5.92.
According to the officers of the Development Directorate with whom I have met, the Council is in principle perfectly willing to release some or all of the monies, but it has so far been unable to do so because the GPDC have never provided the Council with sufficient details of how the monies would be spent (i.e. so as to enable the Council to satisfy itself that the expenditure of the monies would be consistent with the terms of the S.106 Agreement).

5.93.
It would appear that the closest that the GPDC have ever come to securing the release of a substantial part of the monies was back in 2003/04 when there was the possibility that the GPDC could acquire Pilkington’s interest in the Grove Farm site for the sum of £75,000.  The relevant Council officers were in principle prepared to recommend release of part of the £120,000 for this purpose, but they needed first of all to be satisfied about how the GPDC proposed to deal with the agricultural tenant of the Farm site.  This matter was never satisfactorily resolved.

5.94.
The latest development on this issue is that the Parish Council have now approached the Council to see whether there is any possibility of some or all of the S.106 monies being released to them so as to enable them to carry out improvements to the Glass Park recreation ground.  The Council’s response has been to indicate that this might be possible (following the expiry of the 3 year period specified in the S.106 Agreement, the monies could now be expended within the wider Glass Park area, which includes the recreation ground), but only with the agreement of the GPDC.  This is because the S.106 Agreement only contemplates the release of the monies to the GPDC.  The Council have therefore suggested tripartite discussions to see whether an appropriate purpose (for the use of the monies) can be agreed.  However, on account of various unresolved differences between the Parish Council and the GPDC, such discussions have not yet taken place.

5.95.
It forms no part of my brief to try and resolve these outstanding issues between the GPDC, the Parish Council and DMBC.  I would however venture to say that it would surely be highly regrettable if the eventual outcome was that these monies (which were intended for some much needed investment within the Glass Park area) had to be given back to the developer.  And yet, in the continuing absence of any agreement as to how they should be expended, there must be a real risk that this will indeed be the outcome.  I would therefore simply urge all 3 parties to get together as soon as possible with a view to arriving at some form of agreement, in the best interests of the area and the local community.

Glass Park Flipside project

5.96.
This is the only one of the Glass Park projects described in this report that was not dealt with, on the Council side, by the Strategic Programmes Unit.  Rather, it was dealt with by the Council’s (former) Greenspace Strategy Team.  This was because the project was to do with the provision of children’s play facilities associated with the Glass Park Millennium Green.

5.97.
The description that follows is based primarily on (a) information provided at my meeting with Helen McCluskie—Helen now works as a Biodiversity Officer within the Development Directorate, but she was previously (from 2000 to 2005) a Greenspace Strategy Officer and was the Council’s project officer for the Flipside project, (b) my examination of the Council’s files relating to the project and (c) information provided at my meeting with Liz Jeffress.

5.98.
The main person who dealt with this project on the Glass Park side was David Shaw, a resident of Barnby Dun and one of the original Trustees of the Glass Park Millennium Green Trust (the GPMGT).  Martin Winter, although clearly aware of the project, played no part in it.  Most of the dealings with this project took place after he had withdrawn (in 2001) from active involvement with the Glass Park.

5.99.
The project was in effect a ‘’follow on’’ from the creation of the Glass Park Millennium Green at the end of the 1990s.  The first approach to the Council was in January 2001 when the GPMGT enquired how the development of further facilities to enhance the Millennium Green (in particular, to provide children’s play facilities) might be linked into the Council’s own Greenspace Audit & Strategy and also whether any S.106 funding (i.e. funding provided by developers in connection with planning permissions) might be available.  By this time, the GPMGT had devoted considerable attention to consulting the local community about what further facilities were required and in developing, in conjunction with DARTS (Doncaster Community Arts) and the Council’s Education Department, the Flipside project.  The project was described as a ‘’positive youth project’’ and envisaged, in its original form, the provision of a number of different play areas (for toddlers, young children and young people) in appropriate locations near to the Millennium Green.

5.100.
The January 2001 enquiry was then followed up by a more formal application, in the form of a letter dated 20 April 2001 from Martin Hilton, the Chairman of the GPMGT.  This letter explained that the total project, as then proposed, was likely to cost £80,000.  It was envisaged that £30,000 of this cost would be funded by contributions of £25,000 via the Rural Partnership Board and £2,500 (each) from the Parish Council and the GPMGT.  The letter sought the Council’s support to fund the balance of £50,000 from S.106 monies already held by the Council.

5.101.
This application was the subject of a report to a meeting of the Council’s then Development & Transport Board held on 11 June 2001.  This report confirmed (a) that what the GPMGT were proposing was entirely consistent with the outcomes of the Council’s own Greenspace Audit (which had identified a deficiency as regards equipped children’s play areas within the Kirk Sandall and Edenthorpe areas of the Borough), (b) that the Millennium Green site was ‘’extremely well placed’’ as a location for new children’s play facilities in order to address this deficiency and (c) that the amount requested by the GPMGT was available from S.106 monies held by the Council.  The report referred in particular to £30,000 being available from the monies provided in 1997 by Persimmon Homes in connection with a development at Hatfield Lane and £20,000 being available from the monies provided by Henry Boot in 2000 in connection with a development at Longfield Road.  [Note: It has been explained to me the officers were quite satisfied that the project proposals could properly be regarded as being ‘’in the vicinity’’ of these respective developments.  In other words, there was a sufficient connection or proximity between the proposals of the GPMGT and the purposes for which the S.106 monies in question had been provided.]

5.102.
The decision of the Development & Transport Board was to support the Flipside project and to agree to include the sum of £50,000 in the Board’s capital programme.  However, as was made clear within the report, this was on the basis that the Council’s contribution of £50,000 would not represent more than 62.5% of the project’s total cost of £80,000.  The report went on to say that, in the event of the project cost varying, the Council’s contribution would remain capped at 62.5%.

5.103.
Following this Council approval in June 2001, the GPMGT commissioned DARTS to undertake a series of workshops and other events in order to develop the Flipside project proposals in more detail.  One of the priorities that emerged from this consultative process was the need for a skateboarding ramp.  For some time, the intention was apparently to locate this ramp on part of the Millennium Green.  However, it was subsequently discovered that this would not be possible on account of (a) engineering difficulties associated with the original ‘’treatment’’ of the former glass tip land and (b) a prohibition on placing any structures on the Green.  The proposal (to locate the ramp on the Green) also apparently encountered some opposition from local residents.  This resulted in the need for a complete ‘’re-think’’ and a further round of local consultation.  What eventually emerged from this was a proposal to locate the skateboarding ramp on land, near to (but not on) the Millennium Green, that formed part of the Parish Council’s recreation ground area.  However, one consequence of the choice of this new location was that additional works would be required in order to provide a new access route and additional fencing (including a lockable gate), in order to prevent access via a route that was close to residential properties.  In other words, the main purpose of these additional works was to prevent disturbance to local residents.   

5.104.
The various processes described above meant that it was not until 2003 that the GPMGT were clear about the final form of the project and in particular, about where the skateboarding ramp should be located.  In the meantime, the actual ramp had been purchased at a cost of £17,700.  This had been funded by a Council contribution—from the £50,000 allocation for the project that had been agreed in June 2001.  However, as a result of the delay in finalising the details of the project, the opportunity to secure a £25,000 contribution via the Rural Partnership Board had, due to an intervening change in funding policy & priorities, been lost.  The (much more modest) contributions from the Parish Council and the Trust itself were still available.

5.105.
The GPMGT then entered into further discussions with Council officers about a ‘’scaled down’’ project and about the possibility of the Council, despite the terms of the June 2001 decision, being prepared to contribute more than 62.5% of the total project cost.  Another change that had occurred by this time was that the Council had adopted ‘’the Mayor & Cabinet’’ form of government.  This meant that the type of decision previously made by the Development & Transport Board now fell to be made by the relevant Cabinet Member—i.e. the Member with the portfolio for Culture, Sport & Young People.

5.106.
What eventually emerged from further discussions between representatives of the GPMGT (particularly, David Shaw & Liz Jeffress) and Council officers was a report to the relevant Cabinet Member (Councillor Margaret Ward) in April 2003.

5.107.
This April 2003 report reminded the Cabinet Member of the Council’s June 2001 decision and explained what had happened to the Flipside project over the intervening period.  The report then laid out 3 options for the Cabinet Member to consider.  These 3 options were—

· to agree to the request from the GPMGT that the balance of the £50,00 should now be released so that the project, in its revised form, could be completed;   or

· to withdraw the funding and to request that the funding already provided should be repaid.  It was envisaged that, under this option, the skateboarding ramp would become the Council’s property and might be located elsewhere within the Borough.  However, the point was made that the Council would still be obliged to fund the work (costing some £6,000) already undertaken by DARTS;   or

· to do nothing.

5.108.
The report recommended that the first of these options should be adopted and this was agreed to by the Cabinet Member.  Notice of this decision was issued on 22 April 2003.

5.109.
The works to complete the project, in its revised form, were undertaken during the 2003/04 financial year.  It is important to note that not all of the £50,000 was paid out to the Trust, because part of this amount had to be utilised to pay for the access and related works that were undertaken by the Council itself.

5.110.
By way of comment on this particular project, it is plain that (due to all the intervening changes) the project that was finally agreed in 2003 was very different to what had been approved in 2001.  One of the major changes was of course that the prospect of there being a substantial ‘’matched funding’’ contribution had in the meantime disappeared. The Council decided nevertheless to go ahead and, in so doing, went way beyond the 62.5% contribution ‘’cap’’ that had been part of the original decision.

5.111.
However, having studied the very fully documented account of this project that appears on the Council’s files, I am satisfied (a) that the Council knew what it was doing (i.e. the key reports of 2001 & 2003 both appear to me to have been properly thorough), (b) that the Council’s 2003 decision to release the full £50,000, whilst it could be regarded as generously ‘’accommodating’’ of all the changes that had occurred, was not, in all the circumstances, an unreasonable decision and (c) that the key consideration that determined the Council’s thinking on this matter was the achievement of the relevant policy objectives relating to the provision of play facilities.

Other Glass Park projects

5.112.
As listed on Page 15 of this report, there are 3 other Glass Park projects (not examined by the Audit Commission) that have involved funding from DMBC over recent years.  Brief descriptions of these 3 projects appear below.

5.113.
The first project related to the Recycling conference for the Doncaster Community Recycling Partnership that was held in Doncaster (at the Danum Hotel) in November 2000.  This did not actually originate as a Glass Park project.  Rather, the project (i.e. to hold this particular conference in Doncaster) was originally promoted by the Recycling Partnership and it was they who secured the necessary funding under the New Deal for Communities (NDC) programme.  [Note: I understand that, at this time, all applications under the NDC programme were handled by a unit that was technically separate from the Council.  Whilst the members of this unit were Council employees, and whilst the Council dealt with its financial affairs, the unit reported to a separate Board, made up of both Council representatives and representatives of several other bodies, including the Government Office.]

5.114.
The application form, for funding of £9,100 as a NDC ‘’Quick Win’’ project, was submitted by Jim McLaughlin, on behalf of the Recycling Partnership, on 25 October 2000.  It was supported by a note from the Council’s Head of Environmental Services.  The application was then considered and approved (in the requested sum of £9,100) at a meeting of the relevant NDC ‘’approval body’’ on 7 November 2000.

5.115.
However, the Partnership then sought the assistance of the Glass Park Development Company (the GPDC) to design, plan and administer the event.   In other words, the GPDC were commissioned to act as the event organisers.  Martin Winter, who was still actively involved with the Glass Park at this stage, recalls that this was very much a ‘’last minute’’ request to the GPDC.  They were apparently given less than 2 weeks in which to make all the necessary arrangements.  As a consequence, it was a case of ‘’all hands to the pump’’ and some 15 or so individuals finished up helping out with different aspects of the organisation.  In the event, the conference turned out to be a success.  Over 100 persons attended and most of the sessions proved to be very worthwhile.  According to Martin Winter, the interest generated by this particular conference led directly to the subsequent creation of the kerbside recycling pilot scheme.

5.116.
On the financial side, 3 invoices were submitted by the GPDC (in December 2000, February 2001 & March 2001) totalling £9,047.50.  These related to all the expenses—e.g. the charges made by the Danum Hotel, speakers’ expenses etc—involved in arranging the conference.

5.117.
The only query that appears to have arisen (and this only arose some time after the event) was when, after a process of reconciling all the supporting receipts with the total amount included in the GPDC’s invoices, it was found (by the Council) that there was a ‘’shortfall’’ of £272.70.  In other words, the total amount of expenditure evidenced by the receipts was £272.20 less than the total amount (£9,047.50) included in the GPDC’s 3 invoices.  The Council then raised an invoice for the amount of this ‘’shortfall’’ and this was duly paid by the GPDC.      

5.118.
The second project concerned a Community Chest grant for the Doncaster Farmers Market.  The establishment of the Farmers Market was of course one of the elements of the Glass Park DoLFN project that has already been described in some detail above.  This separate project was concerned with raising funding for (a) the services of a Research Officer (for 3 months) to help in advertising and promoting the Farmers Market and (b) the purchase of 20 market stalls.  Successful applications were made by GPDC (David Shaw,  Wendy Slater & Carolyne Hunter were all involved at different stages) to the Council for funding of £1,663 from the Rural Community Chest and £4,000 under the Local Agenda 21 programme.  The total amount of DMBC funding was therefore £5,663.  In addition to this, GPDC contributed £2,000 from its own funds—in other words, the total cost of the project was £7,663.  The applications to the Council were approved in December 2001.  I have not come across any particular queries or concerns relating to this project.

5.119.
The third and final project concerned a Community Partnership Core Equipment grant.  This type of grant was available to assist community and voluntary groups to purchase items of equipment (e.g. office equipment) that they needed for their activities.  The grant was paid out against receipts.  In March 2001, a grant of this type, amounting to £1,874.98, was paid to GPDC.  Again, I have not come across any particular queries or concerns relating to this project.

Glass Park projects that did not proceed

5.120.
In order to complete the picture, I have set out below brief details of 3 further Glass Park projects which each involved applications for DMBC funding, but which did not in the event proceed.  In other words, no DMBC funding was actually provided.  The 3 projects were—

· Renovation of the Glass Park Recreation Ground—this was a project promoted by the Barnby Dun & Kirk Sandall Sports Association, rather than by the Glass Park Trust or Company.  It appears from the papers that the person primarily involved was David Shaw, but in his capacity as the Secretary of the Sports Association.  The objectives of this project were to carry out improvements to the former Pilkington recreation ground (now owned by the Parish Council) by, for example, improvements to the sports pitches, the provision of adequate parking facilities and generally developing the facility as a ‘’community sports ground’’.  An application for SRB5 funding of £27,500 (towards a total cost of £75,000) gained first stage approval in December 2002, but in the event the promoters of the project were unable to proceed and therefore no SRB funding was actually provided.

· Community Composting research & development project—this was a project promoted by the Glass Park Development Company (the GPDC) and again involved an application for SRB5 funding—of some £35,000.  It gained first stage approval in November 2000, but the full project appraisal was not completed within the required timescale and, as I understand it, the application was then withdrawn by the GPDC.
· Doncaster Funeral Advocacy project—this was another project that was promoted by the GPDC.  I have seen few details, but I understand that it was concerned with developing and promoting the idea of ‘’green’’ burials, using biodegradable coffins etc.  It was the subject of an application for SRB5 funding, but it failed to gain first stage approval because, on assessment, it did not score sufficiently highly against the funding criteria that were in force at that time.  Martin Winter has told me that he was, at the time, very disappointed to hear that this project had been rejected (because he believed it to be an ‘’excellent’’ project) and that, even though this was some time after he had withdrawn from active involvement with the Glass Park, he went to the trouble of arranging a meeting with the relevant Council officers in order to find out more about why it had been turned down.  I should say that, throughout my investigation, this is the only example I have come across of Martin Winter involving himself in a Glass Park issue after his withdrawal in 2001.  However, I am satisfied, based on the accounts of the meeting that I have received from the officers concerned, that Martin Winter did not seek to apply any form of improper pressure on the officers.  They have told me that the meeting was perfectly amicable and that once they had explained why the project did not ‘’fit’’ the relevant criteria, this was readily accepted by Martin Winter.
6.  THE AUDIT COMMISSION’S FINDINGS

6.1.
Arising out of the Audit Commission’s investigation into how the Council had dealt with 4 specific Glass Park projects, the Commission’s report of June 2005 made a number of criticisms of the Council’s procedures and practices.  I do not need to detail all of these criticisms within this report, because all Members of the Council have already been provided with the full version of the Commission’s report.

6.2.
However, as no more than a brief summary, I think that it is fair to say that the principal criticisms were about—

· inconsistencies, across the Council, in the way in which funding  applications were assessed;

· the absence, within assessment procedures, of sufficient checks on the applicant body’s ‘’track record’’, as regards both governance and the delivery of previous projects;

· the absence of a system for sharing information, about grant funding, across the Council—i.e. no proper system for ensuring that the Council’s actions were appropriately co-ordinated;

· an insufficiently robust attitude towards challenging and verifying the outputs from grant funded projects;

· an undue preparedness to accept (without requiring further evidence) what applicants for funding were saying on matters such as the availability of ‘’matched funding’’ and the extent of consultation that had been undertaken;   and

· inadequacies in certain aspects of the Council’s arrangements for monitoring grant funded projects.

6.3.
For the record, I should mention that a number of the above criticisms are consistent with the concerns that Joan Moffat expressed to me when I met with her, as part of my investigation, in July & August.  However, I should also go on to say that an additional concern expressed to me by Joan Moffat was that the Council had, in her opinion, singularly failed to learn the lessons of previous investigations into the award of grants and related matters.  I shall return to this topic when I comment, in the next section of this report, on the implementation of the Audit Commission’s recommendations.

6.4.
Although it is not technically part of my brief to make any comment on the various findings by the Audit Commission (which have in any event already been accepted by the Council), I think that it is right to record that my investigation has certainly enabled me to understand why all of these particular criticisms were made.  In general terms, I believe that the criticisms that were made were fair and reasonable.

6.5.
However, I might go on to say—although I fully accept that this is an almost impossible judgement to make—that I have not come across any material that clearly tells me that, even if all the procedures & practices recommended by the Commission had been in place at the relevant times, the outcome of any of the Glass Park funding applications would necessarily have been any different.

6.6.
The only other matters on which I think that I need to comment, within this section of my report, are the Audit Commission’s findings that refer to (i) the registration of members’ interests, (ii) the topic of ‘’matched (or match) funding’’ and (iii) the Council’s power of veto.  Taking these in turn—

The registration of members’ interests

6.7.
I have to say that, when reading the Audit Commission’s report for the first time, I was puzzled by the reference (on Page 4, within the Main Findings section) to ‘’weaknesses having been found in the registration of members’ interests’’.  This was simply because, unlike every other matter referred to within this section, this particular reference was not explained or followed up within the subsequent sections of the report.  The only reference to the matter, in the entire report, is the one on Page 4.  It does not at all surprise me therefore that this Page 4 reference has attracted some questions from Members—see Questions 17 & 18 within ANNEX B. 

6.8.
I raised this matter at my first meeting with Phil Parkin of the Commission.  He explained to me that, by the time they produced the final version of their report (in June 2005), they were already satisfied that adequate steps had been taken to strengthen the Council’s arrangements for providing guidance and training to members and for regularly monitoring the registration of interests.  They did not therefore consider it necessary to say anything more on this subject within their report.

6.9.
At the same meeting, Phil Parkin told me what it was that had prompted the Commission to make the Page 4 reference in the first place.  He explained that this was their discovery, on inspecting the public Register of Interests, that—

· Martin Winter had not registered his interest as a self employed environmental management consultant (or indeed any other interests) until August 1999—i.e. some 3 months after he had first been elected to the Council in May 1999 (the deadline for registration at that time was one month).  They were also concerned that he had not registered any interests in relation to the Glass Park until March 2000;   and

· Liz Jeffress had not registered any interests until May 2001—i.e. 12 months after she had first been elected to the Council in May 2000.

6.10.
When I questioned Mayor Martin Winter on the concerns relating to him, he admitted first of all that he could not provide any specific explanation for the delay, between May & August 1999, in making his initial registration.  He recalled that, as a newly elected councillor in May 1999, he had been given no end of forms to complete, but he believed that he had in fact done all that was asked of him.  Although he could not be certain, he wondered whether the reason for his delay was that, having completed a Labour Party form relating to interests, he had mistakenly assumed that he had already done everything that was required of him as regards registering his interests.  In any event, he assured me that the sole reason for any delay on his part was innocent oversight.

6.11.
In relation to the Audit Commission’s concern about him not registering any interests in relation to Glass Park until March 2000, his response was that it was not until March 2000 (when he was involved with the application to the Council for the Community Enterprise grant of £24,500—as described in detail earlier in this report) that there was any connection, financial or otherwise, between his Glass Park role and his role on the Council.  In other words, he disputed that there had been any delay on his part.  Rather, his position was that he had registered his Glass Park interest as soon as such registration was required of him.  My interpretation of the Members Interest Regulations that were in force at that time (which have now of course been superseded by provisions within the Members Code of Conduct) is that his understanding of the position was correct.

6.12.
When I questioned Liz Jeffress on the concern relating to her, she was also unable to provide any specific explanation for the delay in making her initial registration.  In common with Martin Winter, she wondered whether she might have become confused with the (entirely separate) Labour Party registration system.  She could recall an occasion when she had been interviewed about interests by the then Monitoring Officer (John Pitt), but she was clear that this had been about the declaration of interests at Council meetings, rather than about the registration of interests.

6.13.
Finally, on this subject, I have briefly reviewed with the relevant officers the Council’s current arrangements, both for providing training and guidance to members and for monitoring the registration of interests.  I am therefore aware that, ever since 2001, there has been a system in place to remind all Members, at quarterly intervals, of the need to keep their registrations up to date.  I am also aware of the arrangements made to provide induction programmes for all newly elected Members.  On this basis, it would certainly appear that the weaknesses in systems and procedures, that may have previously existed and that may conceivably have contributed to the delays mentioned above, have now been rectified.

The topic of ‘’matched (or match) funding’’

6.14.
I have already made the comment, as regards the Glass Park DoLFN project, that there seems to have been a lack of clarity around the issue of ‘’matched funding’’ in relation to that particular project.  The need for clarity also forms the main theme of my general comments on this topic.

6.15.
I place such importance on clarity for the simple reason that the topic of ‘’matched funding’’ has nowadays become extremely complex and difficult to understand—at least, for those who are not dealing with the topic on a daily basis.  Every separate funding programme tends to have its own (often arcane) rules or practices so far as ‘’matched funding’’ is concerned.  In addition, it is often possible, and indeed quite common, to be able to use funding under one programme as a ‘’match’’ for funding under another.  This can often serve to add to the complexity.

6.16.
All of which means that it is very important that both those who are applying for funding and those who are charged with making the decisions on funding applications should be provided with a clear explanation of what ‘’matched funding’’ rules apply in their case and also how such rules operate in practice.

6.17.
There is also an important (and sometimes overlooked) distinction to be made between two broad types of ‘’matched funding’’.  The distinction that I have in mind is between—

(a) those situations where the availability of the ‘’matched funding’’ is a genuine pre-condition to the release of any funding.  Take, for example, the award of funding for a particular set of capital works that will cost £100K to undertake.  Assuming that there is a requirement for 25% ‘’matched funding’’ (i.e. the maximum award is £75K), it follows that no funding can properly be released until the funding body is certain that the applicant has actually obtained the £25K of ‘’matched funding’’.  Until this point is reached, the funding body cannot be satisfied that any funding it releases will actually achieve the relevant purpose—i.e. because, without the full £25K, the works cannot be undertaken;  and

(b) those situations where the availability of the ‘’matched funding’’ is important in terms of achieving the full purposes of the funding, but where it is not necessarily a genuine pre-condition.  Take, for example, the award of funding for a programme of training & development (for a particular group of persons), where the cost of providing the entire programme is again £100K.  Assuming that there is the same 25% ‘’matched funding’’ requirement, the situation regarding the possible release of the funding (or part of it), before all of the ‘’matched funding’’ has been obtained, could be quite different.  In contrast to the situation in (a) above, it might in fact be perfectly proper for the funding body to release part of the funding—say, in proportion to the amount of ‘’matched funding’’ that had been obtained.  The funding body would however need to be satisfied that partial delivery of the programme (in the event that the full amount of ‘’matched funding’’ never materialised) would produce sufficiently worthwhile outcomes to justify the expenditure.

6.18.
Relating this to the specific circumstances of the Glass Park DoLFN project, it is clear that this was a type (b) situation.  In other words, the release of funding before all of the ‘’matched funding’’ had been obtained was not, I think, necessarily wrong in principle.  However, the thinking that went into that particular decision making process (e.g. whether the decision makers actually applied their minds to a situation in which none, or at least very little, of the ‘’matched funding’’ ever materialised) does not appear, from the papers, to have been as clear as it might have been.   

The Council’s power of veto

6.19.
There are several references within the Audit Commission’s report to the Council, as the accountable body for SRB funding, having a power of veto.  For example, on Page 8 of the report, the Commission say—‘’We understand that the Council has the right to veto the Board’s decisions (this is a reference to the SRB Partnership Board) as the Council is the accountable body for the SRB monies’’.  Similarly, Recommendation 13 (on the same page) reads as follows--‘’If Council officers are unhappy with the approval or re-approval of a scheme, then the Council should be prepared to use its right of veto to refuse approval’’.  [Note: The Commission’s report does not actually identify the particular Glass Park project to which they are referring.  It is plain however, from the money figures quoted on Page 7 of their report, that they are referring here to the Glass Park DoLFN project.]

6.20.
To be fair to the Commission, the above assumption (about the Council having a power of veto) was not apparently challenged or questioned by Council officers when the report, in its draft form, was under discussion with the Commission’s staff. 

6.21.
However, it has been drawn to my attention that, in connection with ongoing judicial review proceedings concerning a completely unrelated SRB funding application, considerable doubts have now been expressed about whether, as a matter of law, the Council actually possesses a power of veto in these circumstances (i.e. over decisions made by the Partnership Board).  These doubts have been expressed both by the Council’s own lawyers and by the Counsel who is representing the Council in the ongoing proceedings.

6.22.
The issue of whether the Council has a power of veto, which will presumably turn on the interpretation of the arrangements laid down by the Government for the administration of SRB funding, can of course only be finally determined by the Courts.

6.23.
Even if it is finally determined that the Council does not possess such a power of veto, the fact will remain that, through a combination of its representation on the Partnership Board, its role as the accountable body and the part that it plays in the administration of the SRB arrangements, the Council will still have considerable influence (if not, the ‘’final say’’) as regards funding applications.  In this event, I would suggest that the relevant part of Recommendation 13 of the Audit Commission’s report should simply be re-interpreted as meaning that—‘’…the Council should be prepared to use its influence to try and ensure that the scheme is not approved’’.    

7.  THE AUDIT COMMISSION’S RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1.
It is under this heading that I need to deal with the one remaining task under my terms of reference, namely ‘’to review the adequacy of the management actions that have been taken in response to the Audit Commission’s recommendations and, if appropriate, to put forward recommendations for further actions’’.

7.2.
So far as this task is concerned, I have been greatly assisted by my meetings with Tal Michael, Jane Miller, Gary Wells and Martin Kendall.  These meetings have given me an understanding of both—

· the numerous changes that have already been made, both in terms of procedures and practices and in organisational terms, in response to the Audit Commission’s 14 recommendations.  [Note: It is only fair to point out, as the Audit Commission’s report itself acknowledges, that many of these changes had in fact been made long before the final version of the Commission’s report was issued in June 2005];  and

· the further changes that are being planned (including an external review that will be informed by best practice elsewhere).

7.3.
On the basis of the information that I have been given, I am confident that the Council has already gone a very long way towards rectifying the weaknesses which were identified by the Audit Commission and which I have myself listed on Page 40 of this report.  I am equally confident that the further changes that are being planned will successfully complete the process.

7.4.
I would simply wish to add that, in my judgement, some of the key changes are those concerned with—

· ensuring that there is clarity about expectations.  What is meant by this is that the Council, by adopting a more pro-active approach than it may have done in the past (including to, and within, the Strategic Partnership and the Funding Co-ordination Group), should be as clear as possible about what types of activity it is likely to support via grant funding and also about what it is likely to expect from any organisation that is successful in securing such funding;

· ensuring that the focus of the Council’s attention, in relation to grant funding, is always on the delivery of specific outcomes.  This theme needs to permeate all aspects of the Council’s approach, from the choice of projects to support right through to the monitoring of those projects;   
· demonstrating a robustness in monitoring and, where necessary, in intervention.  This is essentially about making it clear that the Council will not compromise in the steps that it will take to check that any funded project is actually delivering the relevant outcomes and equally, where it is plain that such outcomes are not being delivered, in the steps that it will take to intervene and correct the situation.  In brief, the Council should be (and be seen as) fair, but at the same time demanding;   and

· perhaps most importantly of all, ensuring that, through the way in which it is organised and the way in which its systems and procedures operate, the Council is in a position to take a properly strategic approach to grant funding and indeed partnership work in general.  This needs to apply to everything from the way in which grant funding decisions are co-ordinated across the whole Council (i.e. picking up on one of the Audit Commission’s specific recommendations) through to the approach that is taken to monitoring (i.e. the need to ensure that ‘’strategic relevance’’ is monitored just as thoroughly as accuracy and probity).     

7.5.
Finally, the question that is of course posed by my terms of reference is—am I satisfied that the actions that have been taken, or are planned, in response to the Audit Commission’s recommendations (and the call for a new approach that is implicit in those recommendations) are adequate?  As indicated above, my answer to this specific question is ‘’yes’’.

7.6.
It follows that I do not, for my own part, consider it necessary to recommend any additional or different actions.

7.7.
On the other hand, changes of this type cannot be achieved overnight and it is clear that there is still some way to go.  In other words, the situation needs to be kept under close and active review.  It is also clear that the whole Council needs to be satisfied that the relevant lessons have been learnt and that the new approach is firmly embedded.

7.8.
With this in mind, I would recommend that progress reports on this change process should be submitted at regular intervals (i.e. at least annually) to both the Cabinet and the Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee.  Such reports should chart the Council’s progress not only as regards the implementation of the Audit Commission’s 14 specific recommendations, but also as regards the achievement of the 4 more generally expressed objectives that are listed above.        

8.  CONCLUDING COMMENTS

8.1.
Referring back to the 4 main tasks, as described on Page 3 of this report, that I was originally commissioned to undertake, my hope is that this report will serve—

· to provide the Council with a clear understanding of the events of 2005 as regards the receipt of the final version of the Audit Commission’s report and at the same time, to remove the suspicions (e.g. of the report being deliberately suppressed) that have arisen in connection with this matter;

· to provide the Council with a clear, accurate and fair description of the various Glass Park projects (including the 4 projects examined by the Audit Commission) that have been funded by the Council over recent  years, so that any judgements that may, from now on, be made about the Glass Park and the people associated with it can, if nothing else, be better informed.  [Note: I should emphasise here that, whilst my description of the projects occupies 25 pages of this report, this is in fact no more than a fairly brief summary of all the information that I have assembled during my investigation.  In relation to each project, I have however endeavoured to ensure my description does justice to the key facts and the key issues];

· to provide the Council with some assurance that the process of making the necessary organisational and procedural changes, in response to the Audit Commission’s findings and recommendations, is already well advanced—although this change (or ‘’lesson learning’’) process will need to be kept under regular review;   and

· to provide clear answers to the 49 questions raised by Members at the special Council meeting in December 2005.

8.2.
Finally, and perhaps more ambitiously, it is also very much my hope that this report will prove over time to have played some part in helping the Council (and others) to draw a line under ‘’the Glass Park issue’’ and to move forward. 

Stewart Dobson

Birmingham                                                                           November 2006

----------------------------------------------

          ANNEX  A

TERMS OF REFERENCE

(i) To collate (so far as is practicable and reasonable) and review all relevant information held by the Council and other agencies (including South Yorkshire Police and the Audit Commission) for the purpose of undertaking the investigation and validating any findings that may emerge.
(ii) To provide an answer to each of the 49 questions put by Members at Full Council on 16 December 2005.

(iii) To provide a full factual account of (a) how and when the Audit Commission’s report was received by the Council and (b) what actions were taken by the Council in response to the report.
(iv) To describe fully the Council’s relationship with the Glass Park Development Company as regards the carrying out of the following 4 projects—
· Glass Park Phase 4—Grove Farm Community Business Centre—Business Plan (RDC funded, but supported by the Council);
· Grove Farm Community Enterprise Grant (SRB/ERDF funded);

· Glass Park DoLFN project (SRB funded);  and

· Glass Park Flipside project (Section 106 project).

(v) To consider the management actions that are recommended in the Audit Commission’s report and to make recommendations for any further management actions that may be required.

(vi) In carrying out the investigation—

· to consider issues of probity and legality as they may arise and to make recommendations to the Managing Director at any time on actions to address such issues, subject to proper process; 

· to consider the making of an interim report so as to ensure that the Managing Director, the Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee and Councillors generally are kept appraised of progress and any emerging findings;  and

· to report the findings and recommendations of the investigation in public (so far as is possible) to the Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee. 

ANNEX B

ANSWERS TO THE 49 QUESTIONS

This Annex sets out—

· the 49 questions that were raised by Members at the special Council meeting held on 16 December 2005.  These questions have been extracted from the minutes of that meeting.  At the end of each question, I have included [in brackets] the name of the Member who asked that question;   and

· below each question, my answer to that question, based on what I have been able to ascertain during the course of my investigation.  My answers appear in italics.  In the case of a few questions, where the answer involves a great deal of detailed information, I have referred the reader to the relevant pages of the main report.

Stewart Dobson

Question 1

When did the Auditors complete the audit on the Glass Park?   [Councillor Garth Oxby]

The Audit Commission sent copies of their draft report, for comment, to the Managing Director (Susan Law) and to the then Head of the Strategic Programmes Unit (Keith Miller) on 16 November 2004.  This draft did not however include an Action Plan.  Following various meetings and correspondence (between the Commission and staff of the Strategic Programmes Unit), principally about what should appear in the Action Plan, the report was finalised by the Audit Commission in June 2005.

In the meantime, a summary of the main findings of the Commission’s investigation (but without mention of Glass Park) had been included in the 2003/04 Annual Audit Letter which was sent to the Council in December 2004 and which was subsequently submitted to the full Council meeting in February 2005.   [See also Pages 7 & 8 of the main report]  

Question 2

On what date did the officers receive the result of the audit and who was it sent to?   [Councillor Garth Oxby]

As regards the final version of the Audit Commission’s report, the only copies that were sent to the Council at the time were two copies that were sent to the Managing Director by Phil Parkin (the Commission’s local Manager) with a letter dated 16 June 2005.  As explained in his letter, Mr Parkin did not send copies to anyone else because he was unsure, following the re-structuring of Council Departments, where the relevant officers were now located.   [See also Pages 7 & 8 of the main report]

Question 3

It was safe to assume that meetings were held at this time to evaluate the Auditor’s findings and then agree to address the procedures agreed in the summary.  What dates did these meetings take place?  Who attended for DMBC?  Are there any minutes of these meetings?   [Councillor Garth Oxby]

There were in fact no meetings of the type envisaged by this question.  This was because the two copies of the report, which had arrived in the Managing Director’s office on 17 June 2005, were not copied or passed on to anyone else within the Council.  They were filed in the Managing Director’s office.

The Managing Director recalls reading the report when it first arrived.  She did not however see it as particularly significant.  In addition, despite what Mr Parkin had said in his covering letter (about not having sent copies to anyone else), she assumed that others within the Council would be dealing with it.  She therefore passed it out for filing on 22 June 2005.   [See also Pages 7 & 8 of the main report] 

Question 4

Why was the original (first part) of the Auditor’s report not put before the then named Regeneration Overview & Scrutiny Panel?   [Councillor Garth Oxby]

I assume that this a reference to the draft version of the Audit Commission’s report (without an Action Plan) that was sent to certain Council officers in November 2004—see the answer to Question 1 above.  All that I can say in answer to this question is that I would regard it as unusual practice for a draft and incomplete version of an Audit Commission report to be submitted to a body such as the Regeneration Overview & Scrutiny Panel.  

Question 5

Did the Monitoring Officer (Chief Legal Officer) and the Managing Director have sight of the report and have any dealings in the negotiations, either directly or indirectly?   [Councillor Garth Oxby]

As explained in the answer to Question 3 above, the Managing Director saw the report when it arrived from the Audit Commission in June 2005.  She did not however pass copies to either the Monitoring Officer (Tal Michael) or the Director of Legal Services (Paul Evans).  These two officers only became aware of the report in late November 2005—i.e. after it had been referred to at an Overview & Scrutiny Panel meeting on 24 November 2005 and then copies circulated to all Members of the Council--see the answer to Question 19 below.   [See also Pages 7 & 8 of the main report]             

Question 6

Was the Mayor aware of the report and, if so, what date did he see it?  Did he give any instructions relating to the Auditor’s report?   [Councillor Garth Oxby]

The Mayor has confirmed to me that he only became aware of, and saw a copy of, the final version of the Audit Commission’s report after it had been referred to at the Overview & Scrutiny Panel meeting on 24 November 2005.  This is consistent with what the Audit Commission and Susan Law have told me about (respectively) the issue and the receipt of the final version of the report in June 2005.  The Mayor did not therefore give any instructions about the report’s circulation or about how the Council should respond to it because, until late November 2005, he did not even know that it had been issued.

I should however add that the Mayor has also confirmed to me that he was aware, long before November 2005, that a report of this type was expected from the Audit Commission.  This was because (a) at one of the Mayor’s regular meetings with officers of the Commission, they had referred to their investigation and to their emerging findings and (b) a summary of the Commission’s main findings, arising from their investigation, had been included in the Annual Audit Letter that was submitted to the full Council meeting in February 2005.   [See also Pages 7 & 8 of the main report]   

Question 7

Why was there no documented assessment of the detailed proposals in the scheme?   [Councillor David Hughes]

This is presumably a reference to the critical comments made by the Audit Commission (on Pages 3 & 5 of their report) about the lack of a ‘’Council wide requirement that approval procedures should include a formal documented assessment of the applicant’s governance framework and track record at successfully delivering previous grant programmes’’.  This was a perceived weakness in the Council’s procedures relating to the consideration of funding applications.  I understand that this weakness, along with others, has now been rectified. 

Question 8

Whose responsibility was it to provide it and receive that detail before the approval of the application?   [Councillor David Hughes]

As indicated under Question 7 above, this was a weakness in the Council’s procedures for the consideration and assessment of funding applications.  The responsibility was with the Council to require applicants to provide the relevant information—so that the type of assessment mentioned by the Audit Commission (relating to the applicant’s governance framework and track record) could be made.

Question 9

Given the Auditor’s view that the proportion of administration costs to all of the schemes was excessive, and on one scheme 67%, why was there no limit set on the proportion of administration costs by the Council?   [Councillor David Hughes]

My understanding is that it had never been seen as necessary or appropriate to set limits of this type on ‘’administration’’ costs.  Expenditure was however carefully monitored to check that it was (a) in accordance with the terms of the funding approval, (b) properly evidenced and (c) reasonable.  Please also see my comments on Pages 32 & 33 of the main report.  

Question 10

Who actually benefited from the scheme, what was the amount they received and for doing what?   [Councillor David Hughes]

This question is so broad that I have not attempted to answer it here.  All of the information sought by this question (relating to all of the Glass Park projects that were supported by DMBC funding) is however set out in full in the section of the main report headed ‘’The specific Glass Park projects’’ (Pages 15 to 41).

Question 11

In paragraph 2 on page 3 of the Main Findings, it states ‘’There is no Council wide requirement that approval procedures should include a formal documented assessment of the applicant’s governance framework and track record at successfully delivering previous grant programmes.’’  Why was this the case?   [Councillor Patrick Wilson]

I have already provided an answer to this question under Questions 7 & 8 above.
Question 12

Was the Glass Park project the only project within the Borough where there was ‘’no Council wide requirement’’ for approval procedures and if not, can we have the names of the other projects which were or are in the same boat?   [Councillor Patrick Wilson]

My answer to the first part of this question is a definite ‘’No’’.  I have not come across any evidence to suggest that the manner in which the applications for the Glass Park projects were dealt with by the Council differed in any way from the manner in which all similar funding applications were dealt with by the Council at the times in question.  The weaknesses in the Council’s procedures, as identified by the Audit Commission, must therefore have applied to all other funding applications made at these times.  However, as explained in my report, I believe that such weaknesses have now been largely rectified.

Question 13

In paragraph 3 on page 3 of the Main Findings, it states ‘’Details of grant funding from the various sources and from different directorates is not collated for the Council as a whole or reported to Members.’’  Again, why was this the case?   [Councillor Patrick Wilson]

The absence of a Council wide database was another of the weaknesses identified by the Audit Commission.  Again, I am satisfied that steps are being taken to rectify this weakness.  My only other comment—and this is not intended to detract from the correctness of the Audit Commission’s finding—is that I know from my own extensive local government experience that the task of creating and maintaining a truly Council wide database of this type can in practice be quite challenging.

The need for regular reporting to Members is obviously extremely important.  I am satisfied that this point is now well understood by the relevant Council officers.

Question 14

Was this endemic for all projects and how can the Council counteract the accusation of a possible cover up?   [Councillor Patrick Wilson]

The answer to the first part of this question is clearly ‘’Yes’’.  As regards the second part of the question, I hope that the production of my report will play some part, at least as regards the various Glass Park projects, in countering any accusations of a ‘’cover up’’.

Question 15

Finally, it states ‘’There is no central database showing which organisations are funded each year and by how much.’’  Can you therefore tell me what was the total amount of money allocated to the Glass Park and where do officers believe the money was spent?   [Councillor Patrick Wilson]

All of the information sought by this question is set out in full in the section of the main report headed ‘’The specific Glass Park projects’’ (Pages 15 to 41).  In brief, the total amount of funding provided by DMBC for all the Glass Park projects that are detailed in my report was just over £151,000 (spread over 7 financial years between 1999/2000 and 2005/06)—see, in particular, Page 15 of the main report.

Question 16

Can you confirm where that money was actually spent and was any of this money diverted to the other projects within the Glass Park (sub organisations) group of companies?   [Councillor Patrick Wilson]

The details of how all the money was spent are again contained within the section of my report headed ‘’The specific Glass Park projects’’ (Pages 15 to 41).  In response to the second part of this question, I can say that my investigation has not revealed any evidence of funding provided by DMBC being ‘’diverted’’ to any other purpose or organisation.  In other words, it would appear that all of the funding was used for the purposes for which, and by the organisations to which, it had been provided. 

Question 17

In paragraph 9 on page 4 of the Main Findings, it states ‘’We found weaknesses in the registration of members’ interests in schemes that are Council grant funded.’’  Can you therefore tell me, in relation to the Glass Park, what weaknesses did the Auditors find in the registration of members’ interests and how did they find out about these?   [Councillor Patrick Wilson]

When first reading the Audit Commission’s report, I was puzzled by the fact that, unlike all the other comments within the Main Findings section of the report, this particular comment is not actually supported or explained by any further information within the Detailed Findings section of the report.  I queried this with the Audit Commission’s officers when I had my first meeting with them.  Their explanation was that, by the time they finalised their report (in June 2005), they were already satisfied that the Council had taken adequate steps to strengthen its arrangements for monitoring the registration of interests and for providing guidance and training to members.  They did not therefore think it necessary to include any further mention of this issue within their report.

They also explained to me that what had prompted their comment about finding ‘’weaknesses in the registration of members’ interests’’ was their discovery, on inspecting the public Register of Interests, that—

· Councillor Martin Winter (as he then was) had not registered his interest as a self employed environmental management consultant (or indeed any other interests) until August 1999.  This was despite the fact that he had been elected to the Council in May 1999 and that newly elected councillors were then required to register their interests within 1 month.  They were also concerned that he had not registered any interests in relation to Glass Park until March 2000;   and

· Councillor Liz Jeffress (as she then was) had not registered her interest as a Trustee of the Glass Park Millennium Green Trust (or indeed any other interests) until May 2001.  This was despite the fact that she had been elected to the Council in May 2000.

When I questioned the Mayor on the issues relating to him, he admitted first that he could not provide any specific explanation for the delay, between May and August 1999, in making his initial registration of interests.  He recalled that, as a newly elected councillor in May 1999, he had been requested to fill in no end of forms, but he believed that he had in fact done everything that was asked of him.  Although he could not be sure, he wondered whether the reason for the delay was that, having already completed a Labour Party form declaring his interests, he had mistakenly assumed that he had already done everything that was necessary with regard to the registration of interests.

However, in relation to the Audit Commission’s concern about him not registering any Glass Park interests until March 2000, the Mayor’s response was that it was not until March 2000 (when he was involved, on behalf of the Glass Park project, in applying to the Council for a Community Enterprise grant) that there was any connection, financial or otherwise, between the project and the Council.  In other words, he disputes that there was any delay on his part. Rather, he maintains that he registered his Glass Park interest as soon as the obligation to do so first arose.  According to my interpretation of the relevant Regulations that were in force at that time, I believe that this is correct.

When I questioned Liz Jeffress about the issue relating to her, she was also unable to provide any specific explanation for the delay, from May 2000 until May 2001, in making her initial registration of interests.  In common with the Mayor, she wondered whether she might have got confused with the Labour Party declaration of interests procedure.  She could recall an occasion when she had been interviewed by the Council’s then Monitoring Officer (John Pitt) on the subject of interests.  However, she was clear that this had been about the declaration of interests at meetings, rather than about the registration of interests.   [See also Pages 43 & 44 of the main report]      

Question 18

Which Members of the Glass Park did not declare or register an interest and what action have officers of this Authority taken since the publication of the review to address this issue?   [Councillor Patrick Wilson]

The first part of this question has already been answered under Question 17 above—at least, so far as the concerns that prompted the Audit Commission’s comment (on Page 4 of their report) are concerned.

As regards the second part of the question, I would simply wish to echo what the Audit Commission have said, both in their report and also privately to me.  This is that, although there may well have been weaknesses in the Council’s systems back in 1999/2000, the Council’s current systems now appear to be appropriately robust.  The particular systems that I have in mind are those that include (a) sending a quarterly letter to all councillors reminding them of the need to keep their Register entries up to date (I understand that this was in fact introduced back in 2001—long before the Audit Commission’s report) and (b) arranging a full induction programme for newly elected councillors.   [See also Pages 43 & 44 of the main report]    

Question 19

On the 24th November 2005, at the meeting of the Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel, I made a request that the Audit report on Glass Park be made available to all Members.  This request was reinforced by Councillor Pinkney.  Why was the report not made available until Friday, 2nd December at 5.00 pm?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

The reason for the delay (of 5 working days) was that none of the officers concerned with the work of the Panel, including the relevant Strategic Director (Tal Michael), had any knowledge of the Audit Commission’s report—see the answers to Questions 3 & 5 above.  In these circumstances, they decided (reasonably enough, in my opinion) that before circulating anything to all members of the Council, they first needed to check the position direct with the Commission.

Tal Michael e-mailed Phil Parkin on 25 November to explain what had emerged at the Panel meeting and to ask Mr Parkin whether the report had ever been formally submitted to the Council.  Mr Parkin’s initial reply made the point that the report had been sent to the Managing Director in June 2005.  However, he also agreed to provide a further electronic copy of the report and this was received on 30 November.  This is the copy of the report that was then e-mailed out to all Members of the Council, together with a covering letter from the Chair of the Panel, in the late afternoon of Friday, 2 December.  [See also Pages 7 & 8 of the main report]

Question 20

The report clearly states that SRB schemes are subject to approval from the Partnership Board which is made up of Council representatives, other public sector and community groups.  The Chair and Vice Chair have delegated power to re-approve schemes where substantial alterations are made.  The report goes on to say that this degree of delegation is unacceptably lax.  Indeed, one scheme had reduced from £120,000 to £62,000 whilst its SRB funding remained at £55,000 and on that scheme, Council officers had recommended to the Board that SRB funding be conditional upon match funding being obtained, as failure to secure match funding was a risk to the project.  The Board disregarded that advice.  Why?  When match funding was not obtained, the scheme had to be substantially reworked.  The Auditor’s view was that there were insufficient benefits for the funding expended (67% spent on administration).  The Council has the right to veto, but it was not used.  Why?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

As to why the Partnership Board--or rather the Funding Co-ordination Group, as the relevant body was then called—‘’disregarded’’ the recommendation (regarding the SRB funding for the Glass Park DoLFN project), I am not able to provide a definitive answer to this question.  I can only assume that the Group took the view that the availability of the ‘’match funding’’ was not as critical as the officers believed.  In other words, the Group presumably took the view that, even without the ‘’match funding’’, the project (in a reduced form) still had the potential to produce worthwhile outcomes.  In addition, I understand that at this time there was some pressure to maximise the use of SRB funding.  I cannot say for certain, but this may have been another factor that influenced the Group’s thinking.

As regards the Council’s power of veto, there is now considerable doubt about whether, as a matter of law, the Council actually possesses such a power.  This is explained in more detail on Page 46 of the main report.

Whether or not the Council did have such a power, I assume that, given the role and status of the Funding Co-ordination Group, there was a reluctance (understandably) to go against the Group’s decision.   

Question 21

Who were the Chair and Vice Chair who made that decision?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

I understand that Colin Jeynes and Joyce Foster were respectively the Chair and Vice Chair of the Funding Co-ordination Group (the FCG) at the relevant time—i.e. when the ‘’re-profiling’’ of the SRB funding for the Glass Park DoLFN project was approved.  This project is described on Pages 29 to 35 of the main report. 

Question 22

Who appointed them onto the Board?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

The Doncaster Strategic Partnership (the DSP).

Question 23

Who appoints the Council representatives?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

The Council’s principal representative on the FCG is the relevant Director with responsibility for External Funding.  I understand that, at the relevant time, this would have been Janet Dean.  Other Council officers are normally present at meetings of the FCG, but they do not have a vote

Question 24

Who appoints the community representatives?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

I understand that the community representatives are appointed by an election process organised or facilitated by the Doncaster CVS and/or Doncaster Communities in Partnership.

Question 25

From where did the Partnership Board get its status, powers and terms of reference?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

The basic source of all the powers and arrangements associated with the administration of SRB funding is Central Government, via the SRB Grant Offer Letter.

Question 26

Should the Board have been constituted under the Council’s Constitution?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

My understanding is that because the Board formed part of the ‘’machinery’’ of the Doncaster Strategic Partnership (as opposed to the Council), it fell outside the scope of the Council’s Constitution.

Question 27

Do any of the Members of the Board have conflicting interests?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

Not so far as I am aware.  According to the minutes that I have seen, there was the normal provision at meetings for interests to be declared.

Question 28

Does the funding that was not match funded have to be paid back?  If so, where do the liabilities lie—is it with the Council and ultimately with the Council Tax payer?   [Councillor Tony Brown]

No.  During the course of my investigation, I have not come across any grounds for believing that any of the funding provided by DMBC for the various Glass Park projects (as described in the main report) has to be paid back—either to or by the Council. 

Questions 29 & 30

The report states that the Council (i.e. the officers of the Executive) did not obtain documentary evidence from the applicant to support that they, the applicant, intended to obtain match funding.  When schemes are approved subject to match funding, the Audit Commission found that there was no review as to whether this match funding has been obtained.  There was no mechanism in place to manage repayments when match funding was not obtained.  In fact, the opposite occurred—despite knowing that no match funding had been obtained, the Council (i.e. the officers and Executive) continued to support (fund) the schemes.

Why was this practice allowed to continue when conditions were broken?   [Councillor Edwin Simpson]

I make a number of comments on the general issue of ‘’matched funding’’ on Pages 44 to 46 of the main report.  As regards the particular decision, in relation to the Glass Park DoLFN project, to allow the SRB5 funding to be released before it was known whether the major source of ‘’matched funding’ would or would not materialise, I deal with this on Pages 31 & 32 of the main report. 

Question 31

How long had this practice been allowed to operate before 2003—i.e. was this the case from the beginning of the Glass Park projects?   [Councillor Edwin Simpson]

I am not sure that it is fair to describe this as a ‘’practice’’, but as I mention in the main report, my impression is that—at least, as regards the various projects that I have examined--there was a general lack of ‘’clarity’’ around issues to do with ‘’matched funding’’.

Question 32

Was this practice to release funds allowed because of political pressure on officers?   [Councillor Edwin Simpson]

I have not come across any evidence that suggests that the decisions relating to ‘’matched funding’’ that I have examined were influenced by political pressure. 

Question 33

I see that in one scheme, a total funding requirement was £120,000 reduced to £55,000 due to lack of match funding.  Who is on the SRB Partnership Board who disregarded the recommendation to stop the scheme because it was conditional on match funding being obtained?   [Councillor Edwin Simpson]

This question has already been answered under Questions 20 to 24 above.  The scheme in question (the Glass Park DoLFN project) is also described in some detail on Pages 29 to 35 of the main report.

Question 34

Who were the benefactors who notched up £35,750 of administration costs?   [Councillor Edwin Simpson]

Please refer to the description of the Glass Park DoLFN project that appears on Pages 29 to 35 of the main report.

Question 35

Was political pressure put on the Board members?  We should have access to the minutes of these meetings.   [Councillor Edwin Simpson]

As already stated in the answer to Question 32 above, I have not come across any evidence that suggests that the decisions that I have examined were influenced by political pressure.  The minutes of the relevant meetings can, I am sure, be made available to any Member of the Council.

Question 36 

Why did the two Councillors on the Board of Trustees not raise these issues at their meetings and at full Council?   [Councillor Jessie Credland]

I assume that this is a reference to the DMBC Councillors who were appointed from time to time to serve as Trustees of the Glass Park Millennium Green Trust.  However, given that (with the exception of the Flipside project) most of the projects that I have examined were promoted by the Glass Park Development Company, rather than by the Millennium Green Trust, I am not sure that they would have necessarily been aware of the issues. 

Question 37

A digital camera and IT equipment were given as examples of expensive items still in possession of persons involved in the project.  Are there any more items unaccounted for?   [Councillor Jessie Credland]

Not so far as I am aware.  Proper asset registers and inventories were apparently prepared (there are copies on the relevant files) in relation to the Glass Park projects that I have examined and I therefore have no reason to believe that any other items are ‘’unaccounted for’’.  [See also my answer to Question 43 below]

Question 38

Council officers appeared reluctant to use the Council’s veto over the application.  Why?   [Councillor Jessie Credland]

This question has already been answered—under Question 20 above.  It should also be mentioned that there is now considerable doubt about whether the Council actually possesses a power of veto in these circumstances—see Page 46 of the main report.

Question 39

Did the Chair believe that there should be an audit of all other schemes which have fallen by the wayside when large amounts of public money (grants) have been used?   [Councillor Jessie Credland]

This question appears to be specifically addressed to the Chair of the Council.  I am not therefore in a position to answer it.

Question 40

Why was the question of the Glass Park not allowed to come before the former Regeneration Overview & Scrutiny Panel some years ago (2002/03)?   [Councillor Jessie Credland]

I believe that I may have already answered part of this question—under Question 4 above.  However, I am also aware that Councillor Credland, during the early part of 2002, raised various issues about the use of S.106 monies in relation to the Glass Park projects.  I cannot say why these issues were not ‘’allowed’’ to come before the Overview & Scrutiny Panel.  

Question 41

For a scheme designed to grow organic foods, teach young people, encourage the community to become self sufficient and long term sustainability, it would be safe to presume that the necessary equipment would be vitally important such as garden forks, spades, rotivators and may be a potting shed or propagating tunnels and even a classroom of sorts.  Why did the Glass Park management buy a £2,857 digital camera and a £2,500 printer?   [Councillor Georgina Mullis]

I know from my investigation that the Glass Park had, and still has, a large stock of garden tools and equipment of the type described.  The applications for funds to purchase a digital camera and a printer were specific in their terms.  In other words, it was clear, at the time these applications were approved, that the funds were to be used to purchase these particular items.  Those involved in assessing and approving the applications were satisfied that a proper case had been made out as to why the Glass Park needed these items at the times in question.

Question 42

Where is the inventory cataloguing all the equipment?   [Councillor Georgina Mullis]

Whilst I cannot vouch for their accuracy, there are copies of inventories and asset registers on the various Council files that relate to the Glass Park projects that I have examined.

Question 43

Who used it?  Where was it used?  Who had it last and why?  Where is it stored?  Does the insurance cover it if it is not stored on the business premises?   [Councillor Georgina Mullis]

So far as I am aware, the whereabouts of all of the particular items of equipment mentioned in the Audit Commission’s report is known.  The computer equipment has been returned to the Council.  The digital camera is still being used by the Glass Park. 

I should explain here that, in line with what I believe is the common practice of most funding bodies, a distinction was drawn between (a) items with a value of £2,500 or above and (b) items with a value of less than £2,500.  As regards (a), such items should have been included in an asset register and the Council regarded itself as having an interest in them—i.e. when the grant funded project in question came to an end, the Council would normally insist upon the return of such items.  However, as regards (b), the Council’s only requirement was that all such items should be identified in an inventory.  When the grant funded project in question came to an end, the Council would not normally insist upon the return of such items—because they were assumed to be of little, or no, value.    

Question 44

Why wasn’t there any arrangement for the recovery and relocation of such equipment to ensure best use was made of these assets?   [Councillor Georgina Mullis]

Please see my answers to Questions 42 & 43 above.

Question 45

Is there an asset register?  If not, why not?   [Councillor Georgina Mullis]

Please see my answers to Questions 42 & 43 above.
Question 46

Is there a full inventory of all items purchased?   [Councillor Georgina Mullis]

Please see my answers to Questions 42 & 43 above. 

Question 47

The report states (Page 6 of the Detailed Findings) that ‘’Most community schemes are promulgated to meet the needs of the local community.  As part of the approval process, applicants often claim to have carried out consultation with the local community.  However, there is currently no requirement within Council approval procedures for evidence of the results (or even format) of community consultation to be provided to the Council.’’  Why wasn’t the obtaining of results of consultation not a formality?   [Councillor Paul Coddington]

This was certainly one of the weaknesses, in the Council’s procedures and systems, that was identified by the Audit Commission.  The weakness was that the production of supporting evidence was not a standard requirement.  I put it like this because I know that, as regards some of the projects that I have examined, such supporting evidence was in fact produced.  This weakness has now been rectified.

Question 48

How much is outstanding under these schemes and who is responsible?      [Councillor Allan Jones]

As already mentioned in my answer to Question 28 above, I do not believe that any of the funding is ‘’outstanding’’—i.e. in the sense that it has to be paid back (either to or by the Council).  The issue of ‘’who is responsible’’ does not therefore arise.

Question 49

Councillor Carol Williams referred to the use of Section 106 monies from a development at Edenthorpe which had been used to supplement the Glass Park and sought information on the amount of Section 106 monies used?   [Councillor Carol Williams]

This question relates to the Glass Park Flipside project—the last of the 4 projects listed on Page 2 of the Audit Commission’s report.  This was the only one of the 4 projects that involved the use of Section 106 monies and also the only project that was handled by the Council’s Greenspace Group.  The Flipside project was concerned with the provision of children’s play facilities, including a skateboarding ramp, on land close to the Millennium Green in Kirk Sandall.  The history of the Council’s decision making, resulting in a decision to make a grant of £50,000 (from Section 106 monies) for this project, is described on Pages 35 to 38 of the main report.  In brief, the main decisions were those taken by the Development & Transport Board in June 2001 and by Councillor Margaret Ward, as the relevant Cabinet Member, in April 2003.  The project was implemented during 2003/04.

The particular Section 106 monies that were used to make the grant were (a) £30,000 from the monies contributed by Persimmon Homes in 1997 in relation to a development at Hatfield Lane and (b) £20,000 from the monies contributed by Henry Boot in 2000 in relation to a development at Longfield Road.

-------------------------------------------------------------        

ANNEX C

LIST OF INVESTIGATION MEETINGS

(in date order)

22 March 2006     DCS Steve Talbot & DCI Mark Wilkie of South Yorkshire   Police

29 March              Phil Parkin, Steve Taylor & David Phillips of the Audit Commission (Doncaster Office)

6 April                   Martin Kendall, Policy & Partnerships Consultant, DMBC

7 April                   Joanne Lodge, Asset Manager, DMBC

10 April                 Christian Foster, Member Support & Elections Manager, DMBC 

21 April                 Dave Park, Principal Finance Officer, DMBC

26 April                 Paul Elliott, St Leger Homes (former DMBC officer)

9 May                    Helen Lowe, Principal Finance Officer, DMBC

16 May                  Helen McCluskie, Biodiversity Officer, DMBC

22 May                  Lorraine Huckerby, Group Director, Corporate Governance, DMBC (subsequently retired) 

30 May                  Chris Adams, former DMBC officer 

14 June                 Tal Michael, Strategic Director, Policy, Partnerships & Governance (& Monitoring Officer), DMBC 

14 June                 Gary Wells, Strategic Policy & Partnerships Manager,

                              DMBC

6 July                    Joan Moffat (with Councillor Karen Hampson)

10 July                  Councillor Mick Maye

10 July                  Councillor Margaret Pinkney

10 July                  Councillor Jessie Credland

3 August               Joan Moffat (with Councillor Karen Hampson)

24 August 2006         Jane Miller, Group Director, Policy & Partnerships,        DMBC

24 August                  Phil Parkin of the Audit Commission (Doncaster Office)

5 September              Mayor Martin Winter, former Secretary of the GPMGT, former Secretary of GPDC and former Glass Park Project Director

22 September            Liz Jeffress, former member of DMBC, Trustee & Secretary of the GPMGT and Director & Secretary of GPDC

25 September            Carolyne Hunter, former Secretary of GPDC.  Martin Winter’s partner  

26 September            Martin Hilton, Chairman of the GPMGT and Director of GPDC

16 October                 Inspector Colin Lomas of South Yorkshire Police—a Trustee of the GPMGT from 1998 to 2001

16 October                 Mayor Martin Winter—see above

   26 October                John Housham of the Environment Agency—a Trustee of the GPMGT from 1998 to 2002  [This meeting was in the form of a pre-arranged telephone discussion]

6 November               Andy Gutherson, Group Director, Development & Planning, DMBC, together with Richard McKone and Neill Evans of the Development Directorate, DMBC

  15 November              George Boot, Manufacturing Manager, Pilkington UK Limited—a Trustee of the GPMGT from 1999 to the present day  
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